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Acquisition

On 27 August 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an agreement to purchase 70%
interests in MM EAEEE ZEE AR QA (Liuzhou
Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group Company Limited*)
(“Liuzhou Zhenghe”) which principally engaged in
property development in Liuzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC. The consideration for the
acquisition is RMB280 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$355.42 million) and will be satisfied by the Company
in full in cash. The acquisition was completed on 31 March
2015 and Liuzhou Zhenghe became a 70% subsidiary of
the Group since then.

Liuzhou Zhenghe focuses on developing and selling
high quality and large-scale residential and commercial
properties in Liuzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region. Liuzhou Zhenghe is currently developing a
single property project, namely Zhenghe City (IE 1 %),
comprising multiple phases which offers a wide range
of properties, including villas, townhouses, commercial
buildings, office buildings, hotels and high rise apartments,
some of which have equipped with ancillary facilities
such as club houses and gardens. Zhenghe City initially
comprises of two phases and both phases are now under
development.

Liuzhou Zhenghe successfully bid from the local
government parcels of land in Liuzhou City in 2010 with
the site area being approximately 230,000 square meters
(the “Phase 1”). According to the development plan, Phase
| has a stack of residential and commercial properties
with gross floor area of approximately 500,000 square
meters and a saleable area of approximately 474,570
square meters. At 31 March 2015, a total saleable area of
approximately 225,831 square meters had been sold.
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Liuzhou Zhenghe successfully bid another parcels of land
adjacent to Phase | with total site area of approximately
140,000 square meters in 2012 (the “Phase II”). According
to the development plan, Phase Il will construct another
stack of residential and commercial properties with a
total gross floor area of approximately 580,000 square
meters and a saleable area of approximately 536,199
square meters. At 31 March 2015, a total saleable area of
approximately 2,931 square meters had been sold.

In addition to the Zhenghe City project, Liuzhou Zhenghe
is also engaged in primary land development projects, i.e.
preliminary development work necessary to prepare the
land for sale at public auctions.

Through a cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation
Agreement”) with a primary land development company
in the PRC, Liuzhou Zhenghe helps to supervise the
primary land development work and provides funding for
parcels of land with a site area of approximately 3,226
mu (the “Land”) or a net area of approximately 2,400
mu. According to the Cooperation Agreement, Liuzhou
Zhenghe is entitled to receive an investment income
equivalent to half of the sale proceeds of the Land net
of development cost of RMB250,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$312,500) per mu and the related taxes
and expenses after the Land is sold in the public auctions.

Up to 31 March 2015, a net site area of approximately
577.4 mu of the Land was completed and put to auctions.
As Liuzhou Zhenghe obtained an in-depth understanding
of the condition of the land and other related matters, and
demonstrated to the local government its development
and financial strengths during the process of primary land
development, the above-mentioned 577.4 mu of land
parcels were acquired by Liuzhou Zhenghe and develops
as Phase | and Phase Il of Zhenghe City. The primary
land development work for the remaining portions of
Land is still in progress and as at 31 March 2015, the
funding provided for primary land development was
HK$301,500,000.

Goodwill amounted to HK$172,707,000 was arisen on this
acquisition. As uncertainties still exist in the PRC property
market, the goodwill arisen was impaired for prudence
sake.
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Disposal

There was no material disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies during the year ended 31 March
2015.

As the acquisition of Liuzhou Zhenghe was completed on
31 March 2015, the result of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2015 represented the result of consultancy
service business and trading of goods only.

Turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015
amounted to HK$2,424,000, representing a decrease
of 19.39% against HK$3,007,000 for the year ended
31 March 2014. The gross profit for the year ended 31
March 2015 amounted to HK$339,000 showed a 65.76%
decrease against HK$990,000 in the previous year.

A loss of HK$228,441,000 was recorded for the year
ended 31 March 2015, representing an increase of
371.00% from HK$48,501,000 for the preceding year.
The basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 March 2015 was HK1.18 cent which represented an
increase of 413.04% from HKO0.23 cent for the preceding
year. The loss for the reporting year was mainly due to:

° Administration expenses of HK$21,556,000 (2014
HK$19,091,000) which represent staff costs, rental
expenses, audit fee, impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment and provision for bad and
doubtful debts;

o HK$8,221,000 legal and professional expenses
incurred for the acquisition of Liuzhou Zhenghe;

° HK$172,707,000 impairment loss on goodwill
arisen on acquisition of Liuzhou Zhenghe; and

o Share of loss of associates amounted to
HK$24,236,000 (2014: HK$30,313,000) due to
pre-operating loss and impairment loss as a result
of decrease in metals market prices.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend
for the year.
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Provision of consultancy services

During the reporting year, United Fujian continued to
provide consultancy services to her three regular clients.
Other than normal business advisory services, United
Fujian also helped their clients to conduct market research
and feasibility study in particular industries in order to
facilitate the investment decision of her clients. United
Fujian committed to provide quality services to maintain its
reputation in the industry.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the turnover
recorded for this segment was HK$2,337,000 (2014:
HK$2,937,000), and the segment loss was HK$1,403,000
(2014: HK$2,026,000).

Trading of goods and operation of e-commerce
platforms

For the year ended 31 March 2015, only HK$87,000
(2014:HK$70,000) sales and a loss of HK$1,535,000
(2014: HK$1,553,000) for this segment was recorded.
The balance was resulted from the sale on the wine
e-commerce platform. The poor result is mainly due to
the effect of various austerity measures implemented
by the PRC government and the slowdown of the PRC
economic development. Besides, purchasing wine through
e-commerce platform is not a popular way in the PRC.
United Fujian will change its focus and explore different
sale channels and launches various promotion campaigns
to increase the publicity of its wines in order to improve
the sale.

Gold Mine

During the year ended 31 March 2015, because of
the downward trend of the gold and copper prices,
an impairment loss on the value of the gold mine was
recorded. In addition to the pre-operating loss incurred,
the Group recorded a loss of HK$24,236,000 in the
investment in the gold mine in the reporting period. As
a result, the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in
associates as at 31 March 2015 was written down to zero.
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The preparation works for the mining including the
design plan and construction of mining plants and other
infrastructure are in progress and waiting for approval
from local government.

Finance position, liquidity and gearing

At 31 March 2015, the total assets and liabilities
of the Group stood at HK$3,317,253,000 (2014:
HK$236,204,000) and HK$3,233,717,000 (2014:
HK$3,347,000) respectively. The net assets or total equity
as at 31 March 2015 amounted to HK$83,536,000 (2014
HK$232,857,000).

The Group recorded net current liabilities of
HK$195,818,000 as at 31 March 2015 (2014: net
current assets of HK$207,656,000). It is expected that
the repayment period of borrowings can be extended
and the internally generated fund can meet the financial
obligation as they fall due for the foreseeable future.
The bank balances and cash as at 31 March 2015 was
HK$196,523,000 (2014: HK$204,353,000), of which most
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and
Renminbi.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had the following
borrowings:

(i) bank loans and trust loans amounted to
HK$1,562,275,000 which were denominated in
Renminbi with effective interest rates in the ranges
of 7.45% to 12.00%;

(ii) interest free loan due to third parties and non-
controlling interests amounted to HK$218,097,000
and HK$73,526,000 respectively; and

(i) the payable balance of HK$355,420,000 for
acquisition of Liuzhou Zhenghe.

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of total borrowings to total
equity as at 31 March 2015 was 26.45 times.
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Financial resources

The Group currently finances its operations mainly by
internal resources and borrowings. The management
believes that the Group will generate its liquidity from
business operations and will consider making use of
further equity financing when necessary.

Capital structure

As at 31 March 2015, the total share capital of
the Company was HK$19,039,072 divided into
19,039,072,320 shares of Ordinary Shares of the
Company.

Charges on assets

Certain of the Group’s trust loans were indirectly secured
by the Group's properties for sale and bank deposits
pledged to a bank and the bank has in return issued
letter of guarantee to the trust companies as security for
the loans granted. As at 31 March 2015, the carrying
amounts of properties for sale and deposits pledged to
secure the borrowings amounted to HK$580,243,000 and
HK$342,727,000 respectively.

As at 31 March 2014, the Group had no charge on assets.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of
mortgage facilities granted by certain banks in connection
with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of
the Group's properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments
by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued
interests thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted
purchaser to banks, the Group is then entitled to take
over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee
period commences from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the
individual property ownership certificate. As at 31 March
2015, the guarantee given to banks for mortgage facilities
amounted to HK$290,175,000 (2014: Nil).
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Foreign exchange exposure

As part of the Group’s assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi, US dollars and Hong Kong
dollars, in order to minimize the foreign exchange risk, the
Group aims to utilize the fund for transactions that are
denominated in the same currency.

At 31 March 2015, the Group had approximately 6, 1
and 60 employees in Hong Kong, Republic of Kyrgyz and
the PRC respectively. The employees’ salaries are reviewed
and adjusted annually based on their performance and
experience. The Group's employee benefits include
performance bonus, medical scheme, mandatory
provident fund for Hong Kong employees, social insurance
packages for the PRC employees and education subsidy to
encourage continuous professional development of staff.

The Group has adopted a new discretionary share option
scheme on 5 September 2014. The share option scheme is
designed to award employees for their performance.

All share options issued under the old share option scheme
was lapsed on 16 September 2014 and no share option
was granted under the new share option scheme since its
adoption.

Since late 2014, the property market in the PRC recovered
gradually as a result of the adjustments on policy to relax
the restrictions on home purchase and the mortgage
loan in certain cities. Although uncertainties exist, it is
expected that the PRC government will encourage a
healthy development of the property market and the
recovery trend will be continued in 2015. The acquisition
of Liuzhou Zhenghe is a good opportunity to enter the
market and take advantage of the recovery trend of the
property market. We expect that this project will be the
major source of income and contribution to the Group in
the coming years.
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On 13 May 2015, the Company completed the first phase
of capital contribution of RMB124,000,000 to the a wholly
foreign owned enterprise, namely E/ENMBEBEHRES
R 2 ®] (Shanghai Jiajing Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.*) (the
“SH Jiajing”) established in the China (Shanghai) Pilot Free
Trade Zone of the PRC. The scope of business of the SH
Jiajing including finance leasing business; leasing business;
purchasing of leased assets at domestic and foreign
markets; disposal of residual value and maintenance of
leased assets; provision of consultation and guarantees
for lease transactions; engaging in commercial factoring
business in relation to the main businesses.

It is the Company’s strategy to review from time to time
potential business opportunities and investments to
enhance shareholders’ value. The establishment of the
SH Jiajing is one of the steps to broaden our income
source through providing financial and operating leasing
services to external domestic and international companies
in relation to the leasing of, among others, fixed assets
such as aircrafts, vessels and other sizable machineries
and equipment. In addition, SH Jiajing can also create
synergy effect with the Group’s newly acquired property
development business through provision of capital
financing and liquidity support towards the acquisition
and/or leasing of various construction machineries and
property fixtures required in the course of property
development activities to be carried out by the Group.

The Group will continue to find suitable investments
that present development opportunity and also able to
provide a suitable stream of cash flow and profit in the
long run. The management promises that the resources of
the Group will be properly managed and utilized so as to
maximize the value of the Group and the return for our
shareholders.
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Executive Director

Mr. Yuen Leong, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 1 January 2008. Mr. Yuen
holds a master degree in mechanical engineering from the
Shanghai Jiao Tong University and was a senior research
analyst of f@Z& 7L REH L (Fujian Provincial Research
and Development Center) from 1985 to 1991. Mr. Yuen is
a director of Origin Seed Technology Inc., a company listed
on Nasdag. Mr. Yuen has over ten years of experience in
corporate management and operation.

Executive Director

Ms. Luan Li, aged 46, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 20 August 2009. Ms.
Luan graduated from the former it REE KE (Beijing
Experimental University*) in 1990 majored in English for
Foreign Enterprises. She has also obtained an Executive
Master of Business Administration from the Queen’s
University of Brighton in 2003. Ms. Luan has over 20
years of experience in mineral resources trading, real
estate development and investment in the agricultural
industry. From 1991 to 1992, Ms. Luan was the manager
of Guangzhou Branch of Leunson Trans Tech Corp. (USA)
which was principally engaged in the business of mineral
resources and equipment export trading. From 1992
onwards, Ms. Luan was appointed as a member of senior
management team of several multinational companies in
Hong Kong and Mainland China which were principally
engaged in real estate investment and development
business and investment in the agricultural industry.
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Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Lam Man Kit, aged 67, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. He joined the Board
in January 2008. Dr. Lam is the Chairman of the World
Eye Organization. Dr. Lam obtained a doctorate degree in
Medical Biophysics in 1970. He was appointed as Assistant
Professor at Harvard Medical School and subsequently
Professor of Biotechnology and Ophthalmology at Baylor
College of Medicine. In 1988, Dr. Lam was invited to
be the Founding Director of the Hong Kong Institute
of Biotechnology. In 1990, Dr. Lam was appointed a
member of the US President’s Committee on the Arts and
Humanities and awarded the KPMG Peat Marwick’s High
Tech Entrepreneur of the Year. Since January 2003, Dr. Lam
was an independent non-executive director of New World
TMT Limited, a company previously listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and was privatized in March
2006.

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yap Yung, aged 41, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 20 August
2009. Mr. Yap graduated from the University of Hong
Kong in 1995 with a Bachelor's degree in mechanical
engineering. He became a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1999. He
has also completed an advanced management course
held by the London Business School and the University
of Cambridge in 2003. Mr. Yap has over 10 years of
corporate finance and audit experience gained from
his previous employment. Mr. Yap was employed by
PricewaterhouseCoopers as an audit manager from 1995
to 2002. Mr. Yap is currently the chief financial officer of
Labixiaoxin Snacks Group Ltd., a company listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in December 2011.
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Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Guang Sheng, aged 65, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
20 August 2009. Mr. Zhang graduated from L5 7% %
B fr (Shandong Mining Institute*) in 1975 majored in
coal mining. Since graduation, he taught in 1BE®& KX
T #E2 (Fujian Provincial Institute of Coal and Charcoal
Industry) till 1980. Since 1980, Mr. Zhang has served
various posts with the PRC government. From 1985 to
1998, Mr. Zhang worked in f@8iE& ARBIT P AEE (Fujian
Provincial Government). During 1998 to 2000, Mr. Zhang
was the managing director and vice general manager of
1BEFHRER (Fujian CTS Group). Since 2000, Mr. Zhang
is the assistant managing officer of @4 O & /& (the
Office of the Port Opening and Coastal Defense of Fujian
Province).

* The English translation of the name is for identification
purpose only.
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The Board believes that good corporate governance can
enhance the value of the Company and safeguard the
interests of its shareholders and commits to maintain
high standards of corporate governance practices. The
Board and the management of the Company have been
continually reviewing its corporate governance practices
with reference to the principles and the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”) to ensure compliance with the CG
Code.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company has
complied with the CG Code save as the deviations stated
below:

In respect of code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr.
Yuen Leong currently serves the role of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
Since the role of chief executive officer/general manager
of the Company’s major operating subsidiaries are directly
accountable to the Board, the Board believes that the
existing arrangement is adequate.

In respect of code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code,
Independent Non-Executive Director should attend general
meeting. Dr. Lam Man Kit Dominic did not attend the
special general meeting of the Company held on 23rd
January 2015 due to other business engagement.

Set out below are the details of compliance by the
Company of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March
2015.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
the code of conduct regarding directors’ dealing in the
securities of the Company. The Company has made specific
enquiry of all Directors and all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the year.

Board composition

The Board during the year and up to the date of this
report comprises the following Executive Directors and
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Leong
Ms. Luan Li

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lam Man Kit Dominic
Mr. Yap Yung
Mr. Zhang Guangsheng

The composition of the Board is well balanced with
members with different valuable business experience and
expertise and extensive strategic planning and corporate
management experience. The biographical details of the
Board members are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors” of this Annual Report.
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All Directors, including the Independent Non-Executive
Directors, are expressly identified in all corporate
communications where directors have been mentioned
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

At all time during the year ended 31 March 2015,
the number of Independent Non-Executive Directors
in the Board was three and at least one independent
Non-Executive Director has appropriate professional
qualifications on accounting or related financial
management expertise. The number of Independent Non-
Executive Directors represented more than one-third of the
Board which maintain a strong independent element on
the Board in order to exercise independent judgment.

The Company received, from each Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company, an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is satisfied with the independence of
the Independent Non-Executive Directors.

There is no relationship among the members of the Board.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of
legal actions against its directors arising out of corporate
activities.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating the business
plans and strategies, monitoring the business performance
and internal control, approving investment proposals and
reviewing the finance performance of the Group. The daily
operations of the Group and execution of the business
plans are delegated to the management of the Group.
Prior to entering into any significant transactions, Board
approval should be obtained. In addition, the Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.
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The Company has established written guidelines no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-
compliance of the guidelines was noted.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good
faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
at all times. In addition, every director should ensure
sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affair can
be given and satisfactory attendance at Board meetings
during the year was noted.

Board meetings and general meetings
Directors’ attendance records

The Board meets regularly and additional meetings are
convened as and when required to discuss the day-to-
day operations and other affairs with the management.
During the year ended 31 March 2015, 6 Board meetings,
1 annual general meeting and 1 special general meeting
of the Company were held. Details of the Directors’
attendance records are as follows:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yuen Leong EXRy e

Ms. Luan Li Rt
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIAFHTES
Dr. Lam Man Kit Dominic M BET

Mr. Yap Yung Rkt

Mr. Zhang Guang Sheng RAELE

* Regular Board Meetings

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, Independent
Non-Executive Director should attend general meeting.
Dr. Lam Man Kit Dominic did not attend the special
general meeting of the Company held on 23rd January
2015 due to other business engagement.
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Board practices and conduct of meetings

During the year, not less than 14 days notice is given
of a regular board meeting. Directors are welcomed to
include matters to be discussed in the agenda before the
meetings.

The Directors have to declare their interests in the subject
matters to be considered in the relevant meeting and the
director, who or whose associates have any interest in any
proposed resolution, must abstain from voting and will not
be counted in quorum.

Agenda together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information were sent to all Directors at least
3 days before each Board meeting to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each director
also have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

Directors can, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
expenses of the Company. The Board shall resolve to
provide separate independent professional advice to
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their
duties to the Company.

Minutes of each Board meeting will be drafted by the
Company Secretary to record the matters discussed and
decision resolved at Board meetings and circulated to the
Board for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting. The final Board minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and available for inspection by Directors.

Chairman and chief executive officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
and responsibilities of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual.
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Mr. Yuen Leong currently serves the role of chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
Since the role of chief executive officer/general manager
of the Company’s major operating subsidiaries are directly
accountable to the Board, the Board believes that the
existing arrangement is adequate.

Depending on the future development of the business of
the Company, eventually the Board will actively consider
the issue of nominating appropriate candidates to take up
the title of chairman and chief executive officer.

Mr. Yuen, who took the chair of most Board meetings,
will ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and they receive adequate
information and materials in a timely manner.

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election
and removal of Directors are laid down in the Company’s
Bye-laws.

The Nomination Committee is to be responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of Directors and
assessing the independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors. In selecting and approving candidate for
directorship, the Board will consider various criteria such
as education, qualification, experience, integrity and the
potential contribution to the Group.

All Independent Non-Executive Directors have entered into
service contracts with initial terms of services for three
years.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all Directors
of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.
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Induction and continuous professional development

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment in order to enable the Director to familiarise
with the Group’s business operations and Board’s policies,
as well as the general and specific duties of Directors
under statue and common law, the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to attend seminars and course
given by external professional firm and regulators after
their appointment in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company
provided an in-house training seminar conducted
by external counsel covering the topics of directors’
duties, corporate governance practices and disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules and SFO to the
Directors and all Directors of the Company had attended.
In addition, the Directors were provided with materials in
relation to regular update to statutory requirements, listing
rules and other relevant topics related to listed company to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills from time
to time.
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The Board is supported by three committees with defined
role and responsibilities for each committee. They are
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Audit Committee. All committees were set up with a
written terms of reference, which are in line with the
relevant CG Code and available to shareholders on the
Company’'s website, to deal clearly with its authority
and duties. The committees will report their finding and
decision and make necessary recommendations to the
Board. Minutes of the committee meetings will be drafted
by the Company Secretary and circulated for the comment
of the members of the committee within a reasonable
time. The final version of the committee minutes will be
kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open
for inspection by any Director. All committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and,
upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Details of each committee and work performed during the
year are as follows:

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Guang Sheng
(Chairman of Nomination Committee), Dr. Lam Man Kit,
Dominic and Mr. Yap Yung.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the Board composition, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the
independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors.
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Nomination
Committee was primarily responsible:

. to review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed changes;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

o to assess the independence of Independent
Non-Executive Directors, having regard to the
requirements under the applicable laws, rules and
regulations; and

o to make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors and, in particular, the chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company.

The Nomination Committee meet one time during the
year, amongst other matters, to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and to consider the
independence of all the Independent Non-Executive
Directors. Individual attendance of each member of
Nomination Committee is set out below:
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Dr. Lam Man
Kit, Dominic (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Yap Yung and Mr. Zhang Guang Sheng.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Directors’ remuneration and
other benefits. The remuneration of all Directors is subject
to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to
ensure that level of their remuneration and compensation
are reasonable.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Remuneration
Committee was primarily responsible:

o to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all
remunerations of Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of formal and transparent
procedures for developing policies on all such
remunerations;

o to have the delegated responsibilities to determine
the specific remuneration packages of individual
Executive Director and senior management
members of the Company, and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Independent Non-Executive Directors;

o to review and approve performance-based
remunerations by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

o to review and approve compensation payable
to Executive Directors and senior management
members of the Company in connection with any
loss or termination of their office or appointment
to ensure that such compensation is determined in
accordance with relevant contractual terms and that
such compensation is fair and not excessive for the
Company;
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o to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are
determined in accordance with relevant contractual
terms and that any compensation payment is
reasonable and appropriate; and

o to ensure that no Director or any of his/her
associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during
the year ended 31 March 2015 to review and determine
the remuneration packages of the Directors of the
Company and make recommendation to the Board.
Individual attendance of each member of Remuneration
Committee is set out below:
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Attendance
Remuneration Committee Members FHMEEERE HER
Dr. Lam Man Kit Dominic (Chairman) WX HE L (£/E) 1”1
Mr. Yap Yung EEALE 11
Mr. Zhang Guang Sheng SRIEAE A 11

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yap Yung (Chairman
of Audit Committee), Dr. Lam Man Kit Dominic and Mr.
Zhang Guang Sheng.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control system and to provide advice and comments to the
Board.
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Audit
Committee was primarily responsible: =

to make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of that
director;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

to develop and implement policy on the
engagement of an external auditor to supply non-
audit services;

to monitor integrity of financial statements of
the Company and the Company’s annual report
and accounts and half-year reports and to review
significant financial reporting judgements contained
in them;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

to discuss with management the system of
internal control and ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have an effective internal
control system;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting
policies and practices; and

to review the external auditor's management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor
to the management in respect of the accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response, and to ensure that
the Board provides a timely response to the issues
raised.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2015 for considering re-appointment of
auditors, reviewing the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2014 and the interim results of the
Group for the six months ended 30 September 2014 and
discussing with the auditors of the Company on internal
control, auditors’ independence, auditors’ remuneration
and reviewing the internal control system of the Group.
Individual attendance of each member of Audit Committee
is set out below:

ERZEENEBE_T-RAF=A=1+—HI
ﬁfi‘*;ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁu\f;% LA%J?‘?%EE%Z%(EW =
BASBERHE _T-—NF=A=1T—HIFE
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THIESNEARZHHRAE - W EARR R 2
A AR A BDERHE - AR EREN 2B - AR BT
e KRR AN EEANMEZRRR c EREE
KB 2 @EREFEBEREIIT

Attendance
Audit Committee Members EREEENE HE=
Mr. Yap Yung (Chairman) EB%EE (FEF) 2/2
Dr. Lam Man Kit Dominic M BEE L 2/2
Mr. Zhang Guang Sheng SRS E 2/2
Corporate Governance Functions BEERBEE
During the period under review, the Audit Committee REEEAN  BEZLZEEAEE EjJ%%AIﬁfE

N\

is responsible to help the Board for determining the
policy for the corporate governance of the Company and
performing the corporate governance duties as below:

o to develop and review the Group’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the directors and
senior management;

o to review and monitor the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with all legal and regulatory
requirements (where applicable);

° to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and directors of the Group; and

o to review the Group’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure requirements in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2015.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, announcements of inside information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management of the Company has provided to the
Board explanation and information as are necessary to
enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible to maintain a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets.
The Group’s internal control system including a defined
management structure with limits of authority is designed
to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard
assets against unauthorised use or disposal, ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use
or for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. The system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather
than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and
achievement of the Group’s objectives.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Directors, through
the Audit Committee, have reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group. For the
year ended 31 March 2015, the Board considered the
internal control system effectiveness and adequateness.
No significant areas of concern which might affect
shareholders were identified.
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External Auditors and Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu was engaged as the external auditor of the
Company. The fees for the services provided were as
follows:

SRR BB K A BH BT B &

BHE_ZT-RA=-A=+T—"HLEFEHH &
He MEMRS SFENTRAARBINE I ELED -
HERHRZ BRI T

HKD’000

Type of Services R &R FHERT

Statutory audit services ETEZBARTS 1,400,000
Non-Audit Services IR

— Interim review service — AR BIARTS 470,000

— Other professional fee —HEMEXER 1,800,000

Total CEl 3,670,000

The Audit Committee considered that the auditors’
independence was not affected by the provision of non-
audit related services to the Group.

Mr Chung Yau Tong was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company since 1 January 2008. The
appointment and removal of the company secretary is
subject to the Board approval in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company and all Directors have access to
the company secretary to obtain the advice and services
related to the board procedures and other applicable rules
and regulations. The company secretary had compiled with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year and had taken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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Procedures for convening a special general meeting
by shareholders

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition, including making proposals or moving
a resolution at a special general meeting.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene a special
general meeting for the purpose of making proposals or
moving a resolution at a special general meeting must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in
the Company, the reason(s) to convene a special general
meeting, the agenda proposed to be included the details
of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in the special
general meeting, signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the
Board has not advised the Eligible Shareholders of any
outcome to the contrary and fails to proceed to convene a
special general meeting, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/
herself/themselves may do so in accordance with bye-
laws, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned by the Company.
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Making enquiry to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing by addressing them
to the Board by post or delivery to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2310,
23rd Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The bye-laws of the Company is published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. There was no
change to the bye-laws of the Company during the year.

The Company has established various communications
channels, including sending of interim and annual
reports, circulars for special transactions and posting of
announcements and notice of general meetings on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, to
provide timely information to facilitate communication
with shareholders and investors. Registered shareholders
are notified by post of the shareholders’ meeting. The
shareholders’ meetings of the Company provide a useful
forum for shareholders to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board. The Board welcomes the views
of shareholders on matters affecting the Group and
encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to
communicate any concerns they might have with the
Board or the management directly.

Shareholders of the Company and investors can mail any
enquiries, comments, suggestions and recommendations
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Room 2310, 23rd Floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, the Board or their
delegates will reply and response to you promptly.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2015.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on page 46.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2015.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particular of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2015
is set out in notes 21, 23 and 33(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out on page 48 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Chaoyue Group Limited #i# &= B HR A7 Annual Report 2015 Ff

EEeMAREBRE_T—AF=A=+—H
PR 2 FRERRR] 2 KEZIFAMBEHRE -

ARBB—HREERAR  HXEWMBELQF
ZEBEN R A MRMIEE34

FERk DK

AEEBE_T-RAF=-A=1T—"HILFEZ
EBEHNFIEZEAEaREEERER

EEgga PRNEE—F—
AIEFEZBE -
EE - BB R &E

BEME BERRERAFEZE
RERE M BHRERMEE12 -

AFE=A=+—

SIER

{ﬁ TA

ERAEER _Z—RAF=ZA=1+—HZER
HIBHN G A PR FRERME21 ~ 23%33(0) °

LN
ARRBEARZ FHIBHNERE B HRERMEE25 -

(G4

FRAEERERAFEZEHFBIRES
BT TSIRKR FE 488 -



DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company did not have any reserves available for
distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2015.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in
notes 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEARS SUMMARY

A summary of the results and other assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 136 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Yuen Leong
Luan Li

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Lam Man Kit, Dominic
Yap Yung
Zhang Guang Sheng

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-law,
Ms. Luan Li and Dr. Lam Man Kit, Dominic will retire by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 12 to
14 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with
reference to the Director's duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 10(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors, an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The Company considered all of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company had a material interests, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, Ms. Luan Li,
and her associates, was considered to have interests in
businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the wine business of the Group,
as defined in the Listing Rules, as set out below:

Place of Position held
Name of company incorporation by Ms. Luan
NCIE=E AR R 2B
Inter Wealth Limited BVI Director

RERZES EF

City Dragon Investments Ltd BVI None
REBRUHE &

As the origin of the wines in the abovementioned
companies are different from that of the wine business
of the Group and there are sufficient internal controls
procedures set out by the Group, the directors therefore
consider that the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently of, and at arm’s length from, the
businesses of the abovementioned companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Executive Directors
of the Company or any of their respective associates have
engaged in any business that competes or may compete
with the businesses of the Group or have any other
conflict of interests with the Group.

BE-_Z—RAF=A=+—HILLFE #FK
TRHEBBATREEESBERERER 2
BERENGTEBRFRURETERF 2EBLS
AR (EER LR - FBOT

Percentage of
interest held by
Ms. Luan and
her associates
BT R
HE8AL Principal activities
FrEEsEsE FEXER

100% Import wines from South
Africa and wholesale and
retail in the PRC
WrIEENEHEE
KRB RTE

50% Import wines from
Australia and wholesale
and retail in the PRC
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At 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the
directors and the chief executive and their associates in
the shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™)) (a) which were required to
be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as
follows:

(i) Long position in shares and underlying shares
of the Company

Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each of the
Company

Capacity in

which interests
Name of Director are held
EEpR BEESRZEH
Yuen Leong Interest of a controlled

== 25

=ov corporation

RRHAE 2

Luan Li Beneficial owner
83 EnHEA

RZE—RF=ZA=1+—H BEEE&ESTHK
AEBUNBEZHEA TR ARG KERB
E(EEREFLRPERKRN (TEHFRBER
B1) EXVER) 2D HESE : (BEREFEFK
A IEPIEXVERE 7 M8 BB AN Bl M BB
BMERZIBRAR ([BRAT]) 2#m AR
(BIERBEEF MBI CZEGRESRE
VESRIEER 2 Em MK R ) + (b)) BRE ARE
BHELHAEKRMEISIERTEFE 2 Bt 2 #
HRAR  H(OBRBELETRRAESEITES
RHRZESTRBAANRN R R ZT 2 Em &
KEWT -

() REQXFIROGREBROZHE

KL FEREE0.0018 T2 ZER

Options to Interests
subscribe Number of as to % to the
for Shares Shares issued share capital
of the Company interested of the Company
RBALTRG BEER BERRC T
ZERE ZROBEE REAESLZER
- 12,887,473,880 67.69%

(Note 1)

(M)
- 6,000,000 0.03%



Notes:

These 12,887,473,880 shares are held by Long Grand
Limited which is legally and beneficially owned as
to 70% by Mr. Yam Yu and as to 30% by Mr. Yuen
Leong. By virtue of his 30% direct interest in Long
Grand Limited, Mr. Yuen Leong is deemed or taken
to be interested in the 12,887,473,880 shares held
by Long Grand Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

(i)

Long position in shares and underlying shares
of the associated corporation

Interest held

Name of by controlled

associated corporation
Name of Director ~ corporation SEREEE
EENR REEEER BH RS
Yuen Leong Long Grand Limited -
3 REARAH

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
(@) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or (c) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies.

GER

% %12,887,473,8800% A% 10 Jh B K %
BRAREAE MEREFELEERRS
EEZEEEREZHEBT0%K30%HE
HoERRZTAERERBERAAZ
30%EEED  BEESLRPEED -
BWEAINEEREBERATHEEZ
12,887,473,880/x R E B K% o

(i) AEBCZEROREBERGOZHE
Number of ordinary shares
(long positions)
LERYEA (FR)
Approximate
percentage
Total of issued
number of share capital
shares held of associated
in associated corporation
Personal Family corporation E1EEEE
interest interest HEEERE2  BRTKREAZ
fHARR RikER RepAH BRESH
Beneficial owner - 300 30%
EaEBA
BREXFEREN RZE—RAF=A=1—

H ARAIEZERRESTHRABMERARR
S HEMEHEZE (TERBFRBEGKNE
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Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
The following table disclosed movements in the Company’s TREEAAGERERFA
share options during the year:

Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2014 Granted Lapsed  Exercised 2015
R-B-MF during during during R=B-1%
Exercise period mA—A the year the year the year =A=+—H
d HRTE REARE REREYR RERTE  HRTHR

Directors: EF:
Yuen Leong LR 17/7/2008 - 16/9/2014 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
17/7/2009 - 16/9/2014 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
17/7/2010 - 16/9/2014 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
Lam Man Kit, M 17/7/2008 - 16/9/2014 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
Dominic 177712009 - 16/9/2014 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
171712010 - 16/9/2014 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
Total Directors £EES 18,000,000 - (18,000,000) - -
Employees EE 17/7/2008 - 16/9/2014 16,000,000 - (16,000,000) - -
17/7/2009 - 16/9/2014 16,000,000 - (16,000,000) - -
17/7/2010 - 16/9/2014 16,000,000 - (16,000,000) - -
Total employees 28ES 48,000,000 - (48,000,000) - -
Grant total ag 66,000,000 - (66,000,000) - -

EBREINR _ZZN\FLATLERY -
BREREMMTEEBRR _ZTAFNA=

All share options were granted on 17 July 2008. The
number of share options and exercised price had been

adjusted after share subdivision on 3 August 2009. The
adjusted exercise price is HK$0.532 per shares. The exercise
period of all share options expired on 16 September 2014,
so they were lapsed during the year ended 31 March
2015.

BROIFARCIEAR - KABRITEER/ETK
0.532/87T - FTEBRENITERGN —T—N
FAAtTABER AHHEREBE_T—O%F
ZA=T—BIEFERKM -



ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the option holdings disclosed above, at no time
during the year was the Company, its holding company,
fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debt securities (including debentures) of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2015, the following interests of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Report
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Percentage of
the Company'’s

issued

share capital

R VNG

Name Interest in shares Nature of interest ERITREAZ
8 BERE #ERHE Bt
Long Grand Limited (Note) 12,887,473,880 Direct beneficial owner 67.69%

EBRERAR (M)

Note: Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to
70% by Mr. Yam Yu and as to 30% by Mr. Yuen Leong.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions
in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March
2015.

ERBESRAA

it : RBBERDADFIBEFEERRTEERER
B H70% KX30% &5 ©

B EXPTRBEES  ARRAEEEFTEAN -
E-RAF=ZA=+—HARRFAZHTRAHE
MEMRREERIOAR ZBA -
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Directors’ Report

ESTHG

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Neither the Group nor the Company has any connected
transactions and/or continuing connected transactions as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the
year under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its securities
during the year ended 31 March 2015, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or, sold
any of the Company’s securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group
is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis
of their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
market rates, workload and responsibilities and general
economic situation. The Company has adopted the share
option scheme. Details of the scheme and the movements
in the share options granted are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments are set out in note 28 and 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes operated by the
Group are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

As at the date of this report, there was no any litigation
and arbitration for the Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2015.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer and five largest customers
accounted for approximately 48.00% (2014: 39.08%) and
96.00% (2014: 99.40%) respectively of the Group’s total
turnover for the year.

As a substantial portion of the Group’s revenue for the
year was derived from the business consultancy services,
the Group has no major suppliers requiring disclosure.

According to the understanding of the Directors, none
of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital
had any interests in the five largest customers at any time
during the year.

Directors’ Report

EEEHG

B ARERE

ARTRBE-F-RAF=A=+—BILEE
—EHRFREAZRBZFRE

TEEFREER

REBZHRABRELAAXRBEEDMEAEE
NEE L ¥ B H48.00% (ZF — g F:
39.08%) }96.00% (—Z—PU4F : 99.40%) °

HRFARAEEZEXRTNBRLOELER R
BREFRYE  ARBEYETSHERTTHRE -

BEEMET 8EF WEZBBEALHEM
B 2R R AN HER 3B 5 % 2 AR P A A2 AR By ]
BEEBEAAART PR HER 2 -
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The consolidated financial statements for the year ended EHeHER A CHMITEEZARAHET

31 March 2015 have been audited by Deloitte Touche E-hE=-A=+t—"HLEFEZEEHBR
Tohmatsu. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and, KoY MEMR AT GFANITHENEERRE
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the FRELREVRFEEBBRET - AAAH
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution will REERFRBFAG LIRE-—ERABR  UE
be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting HEEE) o FAEIR A R ETAITT R AR BIZERAD -

of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board RREFZ
Yuen Leong 0
DIRECTOR ==

IH
o

Hong Kong, 18 June 2015  ZE—RAFATNAAB



Deloitte.
=2

To the Members of Chaoyue Group Limited
HBUEEERAR

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Chaoyue Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 43 to 45, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the “Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance”), and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

HEBEBERAAIURKRER
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ’&ﬁ
(REFREZELMA L ZBRAA])

AZBAMEEZHNEI3EEFISE 2 HBME
BAERAR ([ERR]) REWEAR T(ﬁ&ﬂ%
[E&E]) 2EaMBHRE EPeER
—hFE=ZR=1— Ezi\éﬂﬁi‘&ﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁéﬁ@i
ZRIEFEZFaEaMNEMEEKER - 7
AHx%TE\**;*‘%b%&,mAfiumu%% AR E
SRTBRBMZ R EMEREER

Ti%ﬁﬁ,ﬁfﬁﬁﬁ%/aE.quEﬂﬁ@@ﬁJEﬁEZ
E%Eﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ,ﬁ”&%ﬁ/ ~AMEB (FEED
%’622%)((?% ARG ) REZERA M
BEX USHEEUBBRRIEHEEMAFZR
BR - L/{&T;—E++$n/u\7%iﬁ§2£?/\ﬁﬁﬁ% R AT 44
BZNEES - UESEM BRI FEHAR
MEF AR M B B 2 BAH R -



Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

AR EERRBEES 2EREREZT
REMBBRRIELEER  XREBEARZERFE
F0MF - ERBRR ((FRZEE) 28] Rtz
SN E A R o AN BENBE T B AN R 2 &
BHEMEMALARTARBAEZENE
T AZBMOCREZLESHAMASRMZE
BRBCERETER - ELERBREFET
BlRRE WREAIRATESZ  AAERTELR
BYBHRERE NFATAEARERRAL -

BRSNATREF LNEREGRGE M EHRERM
HoBELRBEBRENZERRE BT ZRERF
HURMZ 8800 2 #IHf - B3 Tfh iR BREF Sk
RMBHARE M BRRFEEAE R 2
(o ERHEZEFRARE  ZEEEEEZ QT
WELEEM AT HRiEEE M BREEEL
NEES - ARFTEERBRANEE 2EZRE
o BX RSB RRZAMMES 2 MEEKRE
R BRTERFEETMRAZEAEELZ
BEMERFIEL 2 @5t 2 AN - A RFF
BHREPBRR ZBEIIHRTA -

AZHERGE  BESMERSIERBEERTR
MEEHMRAEF I ERE RIRHEAR -



In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as
at 31 March 2015, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
18 June 2015

AZHERR  ZEFHRAVBERRERERE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ceEmkEMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BE—E—HAF=A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-Tf —Z-mF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TET FAL
Revenue WA 7 2,424 3,007
Cost of sales and services HERAR IR (2,085) (2,017)
Gross profit eS| 339 990
Other income, gains and losses HiA - et REB 8 (2,045) 500
Selling expenses HEER (15) (125)
Administrative expenses THER (21,556) (19,091)
Expenses on very substantial acquisition BEANERS (8,221) -
Impairment loss on goodwill BEHESR 13 (172,707) (462)
Share of results of associates MEBERRIEE 14 (24,236) (30,313)
Loss before taxation BREAIEE (228,441) (48,501)
Income tax FTiEH 9 - -
Loss for the year FERER 10 (228,441) (48,501)
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year £REMEEWE (%)
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to g eEN BEIRE AR
profits or losses:
Exchange differences arising on translation BREMEL/ERES 815 (57)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRREH S A%H (227,626) (48,558)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEIEEREE -
— Owners of the Company - ARAEBA (223,794) (43,927)
— Non-controlling interests — JEm R (4,647) (4,574)
(228,441) (48,501)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to: B2 RS 85
- Owners of the Company —KRAEEBA (223,073) (44,048)
— Non-controlling interests — FEEfRR (4,553) (4,510)
(227,626) (48,558)
Loss per share BkeE 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (Bl) (1.18) (0.23)

Chaoyue Group Limited BiEEB AR /A5 Annual Report 2015 3



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR &

At 31 March 2015 R—ZE—RF=HA=+—H

2015 2014
—E-RE — U
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 TH& T FATT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERRE 12 3,406 1,720
Goodwill Fﬁiﬁ . 13 - -
Interests in associates N kNG i 14 - 23,481
Deferred tax assets BERIBAEE 15 55,573 -
Land development expenditure T FAEE T H 16 301,500 -
360,479 25,201
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 5E 17 - 766
Properties for sale FEME 18 2,044,935 -
Trade and other receivables EUKESERIAR
E@E%%ﬁ 19 319,798 5,884
Amount due from ultimate holding FEW B AR IR A RIFIA
company B 33(b) 39 -
Restricted/pledged bank deposits TR, B
RITIER 20 395,479 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEF LIRS 20 196,523 204,353
2,956,774 211,003
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables JERTE SRR
H o EE TR 21 718,700 3,347
Deposits received for sale of properties fﬁ’%%)%ﬁ’] EliiEe 22 755,696 -
Borrowings &k 23 1,562,275 -
Amount due to non-controlling interests ~ FE{ JEE HIl#E R TR IE 33(0) 73,526 -
Tax liabilities WHIEBRE 42,395 -
3,152,592 3,347
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS  7i& (B EEEE (195,818) 207,656
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAS
LIABILITIES 164,661 232,857
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FkRBEE
Deferred tax liability BRI A E 15 81,125 -
NET ASSETS EEFRE 83,536 232,857
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R &
Share capital & 7 25 19,039 19,039
Reserves HE (15,902) 207,171
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEE AEGRER
the Company 3,137 226,210
Non-controlling interests FEf I RE S 80,399 6,647
83,536 232,857
The consolidated financial statements on pages 46 to 135 FAEEZF1EFECEENBRERERZ

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 18 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yuen Leong

a;..
DIRECTOR

4
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

SERREZEH R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 882 —E—RAF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN IN
Non-voting
convertible Capital Share Non-
Share  preference Share Contributed redemption option  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital shares  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total
BRER
TRR BrEE BRE
s BER  BROEE E4ER ffe i BERE ZiER BT FIGER #g

HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
TR TEn TAR

HKS000  HKS'000
TR AR

HKSO00  HKS000  HKS00  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKS00
TEr  TEr  TEnr AL TAr TEn

(note 24) (ote26)  (notea)

ko) (Mihe)  (Fiska)
AtT April 2013 RZF-=FmA-A 18876 31289 7392753 51655 3781 16157 19 (7244270 270258 11157 281415
Exchange difference arising AEREL HRER

on translation - - - - - - (121) - (121) 64 (57)
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - - - W39 W9 @54 (48501
Total comprehensive expense ERRER LR

for the year - - - - - - (121)  (43927)  (44,048) (45100 (48,558)
Conversion of non-voting convertible ~ E% Z R AT AR Bk

preference shares into ordinary shares i ARG ([ff3E)4)

(note 24) 163 (31,289 31,126 - - - - - - - -
At 31 March 2014 W_E-ME=4 E‘|'_ H 19,039 - 1423879 51,655 3,781 16,157 (102) (7,288,199 226,210 6,647 232857
Bxchange difference arising BEREL BRER

on translation - - - - - - 71 - 721 9% 815
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - QBT QBT 4edT) (228441)
Total comprehensive expense ERRER LR

for the year - - - - - - 1 (2379 (223073) (4,553 (227,626)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 27)  WrEERBAR] (FizE27) - - - - - - - - - 78305 78305
Reversal of share option reseve (note b) BERRIEEL 2 (D) (Fitsth) - - - - - (16157) - 16157 - - -
At 31 March 2015 R-E-1E=f=1-A 19,039 - 1423819 51,655 3,781 - 619 (7,495,836) 3137 80,399 83,536
Note a: The capital redemption reserve represents amounts Mizra : EABERREEAQAAKRONEREERAE

transferred from contributed surplus upon the repurchase of BRI o
the Company'’s shares.
Note b: The share option reserve represents the special reserve fiztb - BREREBERRANR-_ZZN\FLATLH

recognised from share option granted on 17 July 2008.
Since all of these options were lapsed during the year ended
31 March 2015, the corresponding amount recorded in the
share option reserve was transferred to accumulated losses
accordingly.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Q;-:A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 &iZ =% —

Be

mEx

AF=ZHA=+—HLFE

2015 2014
~E-1% —T-mE
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
HzE TET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES Rexy
Loss for the year FRESR (228,441) (48,501)
Adjustments for: FHELATER
Depreciation of property, ME  BELRBHE
plant and equipment 330 768
Provision for bad and doubtful debt REGEE 1,258 -
Allowance for inventories FERE 660 -
Impairment loss on property, mE  BERRBZHESE
plant and equipment 1,490 -
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZREER 172,707 462
Investment income REWA (103) (165)
Bank interest income FAFEKA (772) (678)
Share of results of associates SEHE N RIEE 24,236 30,313
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BEREE 2 I
plant and equipment (37) -
Operating cash flows before movements BELL PR LEHETE
in working capital (28,672) (17,801)
Decrease (increase) in inventories HFERD (8m) 106 (766)
Increase in trade and other receivables JEULE 58778 I E o R BR T2 1 (2,369) (1,479)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables e E SETR L B ERIETR
(&) md 6,050 (907)
Cash used in operations ARgeRBzRe (24,885) (20,953)
Enterprise income tax paid, net BENRERER  FE s -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERBMAREFE (24,885) (20,953)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Acquisition of subsidiaries KRB AR 27 18,511 -
Interest received BUFIE 772 678
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEMF  WFERRE (2,447) (277)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HeEyE  BERRE Y REDE
plant and equipment 56 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value RERARBEEBEAEL
through profit or loss SREE (36,323) (64,037)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERANEEBEARL
at fair value through profit or loss EREEMGIE 36,431 74,286
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBMERTFH 17,000 10,650
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RARESLENEYEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (7,885) (10,303)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FOZBeRALEEN
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 204,353 214,642
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE INEEREFH S
CHANGES 55 14
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END ERSELRELLEY -
OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash RTEERES 196,523 204,353
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The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Bermuda Companies Act and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The immediate and ultimate holding company
is Long Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), which is owned by
Mr. Yam Yu and Mr. Yuen Leong of 70% and 30%,
respectively. The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in
the Corporate Information section of the Annual Report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
("RMB") as the Group’s operation is mainly in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). As the shares of
the Company are listed in the Stock Exchange, for the
convenience of the financial statements users, the results
and financial position of the Group are expressed in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), the presentation currency for the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company is an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements.

The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$195,818,000 as at 31 March 2015.
The directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group
will have sufficient financial resource to meet its financial
obligation as they fall due for the foreseeable future after
taking into account the expected extension of repayment
period of borrowings and internally generated funds.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

AABTTREBRERBEEREQRATMAAKT
ZRERRERAT EROHEBEHARSF
BRAR ([BRAT]) W - EEEREEREZERA
AIARBERAR (MEBEZHES ([HBE
ZEE]) MLz AR AEFEERRS
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MERMTELEEMB 2 HNFTRIAF
BR —F e

ARRZNEEEER/ARB TARKE]D - It
TTHRRASEEZ BT EMRNTEARKMNE
(TRE]) - ARARBIBRORERMLET - B
FEMBRERNERE  AEEZRE KM
ARRAETT ([BTT])) 25 BlERaMBHRERZ

S -

ARBR—HREZRAR  EMBARZE
BERBHBHANP B RERM L34
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S E T R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 ¢§£:%*E¢EH =t+—HILFE

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAHITRKBIEEMERS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HR ([BEBMBHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the current year AEECHEAHIRKEITEBUEREEA

In the current year, the Group has applied the following RAFE  ASBECRATYHHEESEHMA

new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute e ([BEEGTAg]) B2l REIERTR

of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). I G HR A 2R o

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities BAVBHREENE10% - KETE

HKFRS 12 and HKFRS 27 BN BwEERNE125
REABHREER
%27%1 HT$

Amendments to HKFRS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets BEABHREENENRY cREERERAE

and Financial Liabilities BRI 2B

Amendments to HKFRS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures BAUBREENFE Y FemBEETLE

for Non-financial Assets EHEN SR

Amendments to HKFRS 39 Novation of Derivatives and AR BREERNEINE TEIACEER

Continuation of Hedge BETA Pk (3
Accounting
HK (IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies BF (AREBRERE HE
ZEg)- 2BEVR
The application of the new or revised standards, amendments JERF AT KB ETER] ~ & §T$Y§%ETA¥\T
or interpretations have had no material impact on the Group’s AEBEZ&GE Hﬁ‘“#ﬁ?@LﬁXﬁET—JEK A

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B ZE =

T—RFE=

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®

Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in Joint
Operations®

Disclosure Initiative®

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation®

Agriculture: Bearer Plants®

Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions*

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Investment Entities: Applying
the Consolidation Exception®

Annual Improvements to
HFRSs 2010 — 2012 Cycle®

Annual Improvements to
HFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle?

Annual Improvements to
HFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning
on or after 1 January 2016

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2014, with limited exceptions
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New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with Customer”

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction
Contracts” and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective. The core principle of HKFRS 15 is
that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for goods and services.
Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS
15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipates that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may affect the
amounts reported and related disclosures. However, it is
not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of HKFRS 15 until the Company performs a detailed
review.
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New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs,
which are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 introduce special guidance
in HKFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies an asset (or
disposal group) from held for sale to held for distribution
to owners (or vice versa), or when held-for-distribution
accounting is discontinued. The amendments apply
prospectively.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 provide additional guidance
to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing
involvement in a transferred asset for the purpose of the
disclosures required in relation to transferred assets and
clarify that the offsetting disclosures (introduced in the
amendments to HKFRS 7 “Disclosure-Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities” issued in December 2011
and effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013) are not explicitly required for all interim periods.
However, the disclosures may need to be included in
condensed interim financial statements to comply with
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
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New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
(Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the high quality
corporate bonds used to estimate the discount rate for
post-employment benefits should be issued in the same
currency as the benefits to be paid. These amendments
would result in the depth of the market for high quality
corporate bonds being assessed at currency level. The
amendments apply from the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the financial statements
in which the amendments are first applied. Any initial
adjustment arising should be recognised in earnings at the
beginning of that period.

The amendments to HKAS 34 clarify the requirements
relating to information required by HKAS 34 that is
presented elsewhere within the interim financial report but
outside the interim financial statements. The amendments
require that such information be incorporated by way of a
cross-reference from the interim financial statements to the
other part of the interim financial report that is available
to users on the same terms and at the same time as the
interim financial statements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these will have a material effect on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Except for the above impact, the directors of the Company
do not anticipate that the application of other new and
revised HKFRSs will have significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments which are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Historical cost is generally based on
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in the financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in
HKAS 36.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follow:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group'’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the
acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:
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Business combinations (Continued)

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

EBEH ()

s EEMBREEXABENERE
BFHzEESRENRERES
A2 A H R BB ST ERIFE 195

BiErER N E

o  BHFIUBMBIBRONRLZESEANE
38 A 0 151 3% 22 BE DA B AR U B8 05 B A A+
REHFZBEIBATETNBEEFBNE
HEERNE 2R VN UE B HIETE
(RATEFEE) - &

o RIBEBHRERAESHA 2
S BB E R E AL B B
(I B AR (S B A3 TiREZIARE
AUzt -

BERERNRE  RNRUWREES 2 T JRE
o & B N R 77 5t AR A R R U7 IR R 2
(08) 2 A BB LART WS AT 34 5 & & &
PR ERKE B8 2 FEETE - WATRE
AEREEMATAZERERIE BB 2 FEN
AR AT EAE - RBRE T 23
A o B S WRBE 0 ST A B R WE D s
(WF) Z AR ELM - FBH A BN P8 R B
VS EA R G



Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value or,
when applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of business
(see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently whenever there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

EBAH ()

RS AR B RARED  BTESAA
BAMRLLPIDIEERCEEFE SRLFR

B JEIERRAE 2 Al A H 20 1R A A (B ok FE P AR A
IR B DB F AR EEFECE®E
REeFTE - MEERECHEEERAFERRSM
o EfhiEA 2 eI AR i 25 AR A A B 5k (10
R S—EEEUBREENRTE 2 EEL

=
g2 °

WMAEEMEEEKSHRERBERXARE
ZHMaI Bz EERAE  BISKAREAE
BHARBERE  sSTAFTEEEBAHARES
—EBn o

]

g

W —TEEGEMELA B NIRKEES
BETsHERA (R it st BoR) MEHREE
B (wnE) Ak -

%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁmﬁm BEDOEEANEETE
SRNBESHRR D S EE@RSELS
ihi(ﬁi?iﬁuﬁ%%

NEEEZREELEEUEEFINEITR
“Eﬂ—\uxif_LT EHIR R ERFEIEZEI TS -
WREEAEN 2 JWESEBLONEKREE -
Al ol RERE  WAKIEREZEML
FREEZREE  ARBEEMLAZTEEE
ZEAERLIPREEEM 2 EMEE - F1[
ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ% SR EEER - BLEER
RBEEBEETENEZIBMED -

BRERNERARSELBUM S - WEENE
THREREELEZABREE -



Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associates. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group's share of net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Interests in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods
are delivered and title has passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 HZE T —AF=A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Consultancy service

Revenue from consultancy service is recognised when
services are provided.

Sales of properties

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and delivered to the buyers. Deposits and
instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting the
above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Chaoyue Group Limited 8 EER AR Annual Report 2015 3R
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Leasing
All leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Land development expenditure

Land development expenditure is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment loss. The cost includes
expenditure directly attributable to the development of
relevant projects such as road construction, demolition,
resettlement work.

Details of the land development expenditure is disclosed in
note 16.

Properties for sale

Completed properties and properties under development
for sale in the ordinary course of business are included
in current assets and stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land,
development expenditure, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy, and other
attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for properties for sale less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operation are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) using exchange rate
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (and
attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit scheme

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme which are defined
contribution schemes are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined using
the actual cost directly attributable to the inventories being
sold. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair values of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into following specified
categories: loans and receivables and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"). The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
asset and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL represent those designated as at
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables,
amount due from ultimate holding company, restricted
and pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses. (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
trade receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified either as financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
borrowings, amount due to non-controlling interests
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Non-voting convertible preference shares

Non-voting convertible preference shares which are
non-redeemable financial instruments that can only be
converted to a fixed number of the ordinary shares of the
Company are accounted for as equity and measured at fair
value at initial recognition.

When the non-voting convertible preference shares are
converted, the convertible preference shares is transferred
to ordinary share capital and share premium. Transaction
costs relating to issuance of the equity instrument are
charged directly to equity.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period
or is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the share options granted vest immediately, with a
corresponding increase in share option reserve.

At the end of reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of option that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the management of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future
and other key source of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that has a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of properties under development for sale
and completed properties for sale

The Group’s properties under development for sale and
completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$2,044,935,000 as at 31
March 2015 (2014: nil). The net realisable value is the
estimated selling price less estimated selling expenses
and estimated cost of completion (if any), which are
determined based on best available information and
latest market conditions. Where there is any decrease in
the estimated selling price arising from any changes to
the property market conditions in the PRC, there may be
write-down on the properties under development for sale
and completed properties for sale.
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Impairment of land development expenditure

The Group’s land development expenditure is stated at cost
less accumulated impairment loss. An impairment would
be made by the Group if the cost exceed the recoverable
amount of the land development project. Determination of
the impairment would require the use of judgment. Where
the expectations, taking into account the experience in the
industry and the nature of the subject land development,
are different from the original estimates, the carrying
amount of land development expenditure will be adjusted
accordingly.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s land development
expenditure amounted to approximately HK$301,500,000
(2014 nil).

LAT

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC.
However, the implementation and settlement of the
tax varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in various
cities of the PRC and certain projects of the Group have
not finalised their land appreciation tax calculations
and payments with any local tax authority in the PRC.
Accordingly, significant estimate is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related income
tax provisions. The Group recognised the land appreciation
tax based on management’s best estimates. The final tax
outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and these differences will impact the
income tax expense and the related income tax provisions
in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local tax
authority. As at March 31, 2015, the Group’s tax payable
in relation to LAT was approximately HK$38,893,000
(2014: nil).

1B B ST 2 Rl fE

NS 18 2 £ 3 5 B S AR AN R R AE R B B 1R
SR - A ABRLHMAEERR 2B K S
o AASEAFLRE BEZSERE[A
TR I - Z BRTTELE R MR T 15 2%
MEE - WIEMERAGE AR - B L%
X2 BREE M E BB AR LA R

RZZE—RF=A=1+—H AKNEEHZITMH
% ¥ 1 4 A301,500,0000 7T (—Z & —PY £ -
T)o

L3t IR EB

NEBBHMPE 7 HHIEER - Af - P EH
FREBEHm 2 TRSHRE 2 RBBR LI5S
=2 MASESTIEB WAREFBEEMAH
ARG REREET T MBEER ZFERX
e B REFLHIEESTE N EARAT
SREBHERAENERNMGE - AEBERER
B2 &EMTER L IBETR - KERKRIEL
HKENRNRVRTEZ S MZEEEHY
o S HBPIECZERIB RN AT
SRAILRBEBEMSHER RZZE—RF=
A=+—08 AEEENIHIZEHRHEREL
38,893,000/ (ZE—WHF : F) o



Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary difference arising from the profit sharing
of the primary land development project per note
16. Significant management estimation is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing when the
associated properties are sold. As at March 31 2015, the
Group’s deferred tax assets arising from profit sharing
of the primary land development project amounting to
approximately HK$45,850,000 (2014: nil).

Recognition and allocation of construction costs on
properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as properties
under development for sale during the construction stage
and will be transferred to completed properties for sale
and charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income upon the recognition
of the sales of the properties. Before the final settlement
of the development costs and other costs relating to the
sale of the properties, these costs are accrued by the
Group based on management’s best estimate. During
the development stage, the Group typically divides the
development projects into phases. Costs that are common
to different phases are allocated to individual phases based
on saleable area. Where the final settlement of costs
and the related cost allocation is different from the initial
estimates, any increase or decrease in the development
costs and other costs would affect the profit or loss in
future years.
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Estimated impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As
at 31 March 2015, the carrying amount of goodwill was
approximately nil net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$172,707,000 (2014: carrying amount of approximately
nil, net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$462,000).

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for bad and doubtful debts of
the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability
and aging analysis of trade and other receivables and
on management’s estimation. A considerable amount of
estimation is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each customer. When
there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As
at 31 March 2015, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables is approximately HK$319,798,000 (net
of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$1,258,000) (2014
carrying amount of approximately HK$5,884,000, net of
allowance for doubtful debts of nil).
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes borrowings as disclosed in note 23,
amount due to non-controlling interests as disclosed in
note 33(c), offset by cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, non-voting convertible preference shares
and reserves. In managing the Group’s capital structure,
the management will also monitor the utilization of bank
and other borrowings to ensure compliance with financial
covenants.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the new shares issues and share buy-back as well
as the issue of new debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 ﬂ‘ E-F—

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

S E T R

AF=ZHA=+—HLFE

6. SRMTA
(a) £MIAEH

2015 2014
—E-HE —T-MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets cTRMEE
Loans and receivables (including ERNRIEWEEE (BiEH 4
cash and cash equivalents) LIRS EEY) 681,667 207,428
Financial liabilities A= y=Ni
Amortised cost B P AR 2,256,574 160

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bank balances and cash, amount due
from ultimate holding company, restricted and pledged
bank deposits, trade and other payables, amount due to
non-controlling interests and borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The directors monitor and manage the financial risks
relating to the operations of the Group through internal
risk assessment which analyses exposures by degree
and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk
(including currency risks, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The directors manage and
monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B —E—HF=A=1+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk management

The Group has foreign currency denominated bank
balances which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets/liabilities and inter-group
foreign currency balances at the end of respective
reporting periods are as follow:

6. EBMITHA @
(b) SREAREEABREX (&)

S E R EE

AEBEHERGUIMNEETEZRITHET  BEAE
A INE R o

AEBEINEGEZEREE AEREEN
SNSRI B REMR ZREEWT ¢

2015 2014
—E—RHE —ZE—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T

Assets BE
HK$ ABIT 48,052 74,004
United States Dollars (“USD") Ex ([Ex]) 124,798 124,425

The Group currently does not enter into any derivative
contracts to minimize the currency risk exposure. However,
the directors will consider hedging significant currency risk
should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 n‘ E-F—

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk management (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation
in HK$ and USD against RMB.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (2014: 5%) increase and decrease in the RMB
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2014: 5%)
is the sensitivity rate used in directors’ assessment of the
possible reasonably change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes the Group’s outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items as well as
inter-group foreign currency balances and adjusts their

S E T R

AF=ZHA=+—HLFE

6. ﬁl’ﬂl/\\ =
(b) =MEKREEEERICK (&)

SRR ERE (F)
AEBETEIBTRET

=/

FARYE 2B XK

T%%Eitﬁ%l%’f/\&ﬁﬁ%i*ﬁ BIMNETHE R B2

BE5% —PF 5%) ZBURKRE 5% (=
T— EE 5%)z%§$p$wl\E|:+zTaéé
BEHFRAZHERELR - FRRESTEE

REFUIINESEZHAINZEBER R E
BRI INE 455 WINE R E R gL INEE R »
5% (ZZ—4F : 5%) EELAE - AR
MEHESEAE AR REEEIBEN-

translation at the year end for a 5% (2014: 5%) change MARBHIEBEBEES% - BEFEEEG
in foreign currency rates. A negative number indicates an B ERERZE -
increase in loss for the year where the RMB strengthens
against the relevant currencies. For a 5% weakening of
the RMB against the relevant currencies, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on loss for the year.
2015 2014
—B-AfF —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THTT
HK$ against RMB BTHARYE (2,403) (3,700)
USD against RMB ERHARY (6,240) (6,223)
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the RRRIESERE  FHEAZRARTERBRFEA

sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other loans (note 23).

As the bank balances and restricted/pledged bank deposit
interest rates have limited fluctuation over the vyear,
management of the Group are of the opinion that the
Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is minimal.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented on bank
balances and restricted/pledged bank deposits.

Credit risk management

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties and financial guarantee provided by the
Group is arising from:

o the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position; and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to
financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed
in note 30.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies
in place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables, with exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers.
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds, restricted/pledged bank
deposits are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks in Hong Kong and PRC.

For properties under development which are subject
to pre-sales agreements, the Group typically provides
guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’
borrowing of mortgage loans to finance their purchase
of the properties for an amount up to 70% of the total
purchase price of the property. If a purchaser defaults on
the payment of its mortgage during the term of guarantee,
the bank holding the mortgage may demand the Group to
repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to retain the customer’s purchase deposit and sell
the property to recover any amounts paid by the Group
to the bank. In this regard, the directors of the Company
considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. In addition, the management
monitors the utilization of borrowings based on the actual
operation requirement of the Group as well as ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. As at March 31, 2015, the Group has borrowings
of approximately HK$1,562,275,000 (note 23) (2014: nil).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk management (Continued)

Liquidity table

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial

SRS H b Pl

6. EBIA#E)
(b) SREAREEABREX (&)

mBELEBERE (&)

TREJAEETECRABZHRTANF
H o RRDIREBEASERARBREZESRE

liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the BzmFRAHzemBERATRERRER
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the o
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. ZERBEMNERASHERE
Weighted
average Total
interest On  less than 1t03  3months  undiscounted Carrying
rate demand 1 month month  to 1 year cash flows amount
R
Reme
F9RIE BEX  1ERUA 137 3fERZE1E RELE RAE
% HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
% Tir TR TR TiEn TR AL
As at 31 March 2015 RZB-E¥=A=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities %74 &R& &
Trade and other payables ENESRER
i ERER - 619725 146 100 802 620773 620773
Amount due to ERFERERTE
non-controlling interests - 73,526 - - - 73,526 73,526
Borrowings, fixed rate B3 REEHE 8.16% 129,170 10,373 65114 1,448,171 1652828 1,562,275
Financial guarantee contracts BERAY - 290,175 - - - 290,175 -
- 1,112,5% 10,519 65214 1,448,973 2,637,302 2,256,574
As at 31 March 2014 RZF-ME=A=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities %74 £R& &
Other payables EftERARE - 60 100 - - 160 160
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(c) Fair value

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

On 31 March 2015, the Group acquired 70% equity
interests in Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Zhiye Group
Company Limited (“Liuzhou Zhenghe"”) and its subsidiaries.
The principal activities of Liuzhou Zhenghe and its
subsidiaries are property development, which include the
undertaking of primary land development activities, in
PRC, which becomes the new operating and reportable
segment to the Group for year ended 31 March 2015.

The segment information reported externally was analysed
on the basis of the different products and services supplied
by the Group’s operating divisions which is consistent with
the internal information that are regularly reviewed by
the executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

The Group has three operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 as follows:

Consultancy - Provision of corporate management
services consultancy services (such as
business development related to
business acquisition and investment
opportunities studies, system
development related to internal
control and computer system
development and human resource
services) mainly in the PRC

Trading of goods - Sales of construction materials and
wines
Property —  Developing and selling of commercial

development and residential properties, including
undertaking of primary land

development activities, in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BE—E—HAF=A=1+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments for the year

ended 31 March 2015 and 2014.

7. WARDEESR (&)

DEWARRE

UTRBEE-ZFT-AFER-_T-NOF=A=+
—BHUEFEREENEEZRDBE2IN 2 AEE
WAREEDHT

For the year ended 31 March 2015
BE-2-IF=P=t-HL#FE

Property  Consultancy Trading of
development services goods  Elimination Total
NERR BER® BmEs i ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TiER TEn

REVENUE LON

External sales HIMHE - 2,337 87 - 2424
Inter-segment sales KEPEE - 1,189 - (1,189) -
Segment revenue PERA - 3,526 87 (1,189) 2,424
Segment loss NEEE - (1,403) (1,535) - (2:938)
Unallocated income RARKA M2
Unallocated corporate expenses L WG E (29472)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREER (172,707)
Share of results of associates AMEBE R EE (24,236)
Loss before taxation BEREE (228,441)

Chaoyue Group Limited i@ AR /AT Annual Report 2015 F 3



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S E T R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 H‘**% FF=RA=1+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

7. WARDRESR (&)

DEBAREE (B)

For the year ended 31 March 2014
BE-Z-MFE=A=+-HLFE
Consultancy Trading of
services goods  Elimination Total
I AR BmEH i kD]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

REVENUE LON

External sales HINEE 2,937 70 - 3,007
Inter-segment sales WERSHE 1,189 - (1,189) -
Segment revenue DA 4,126 70 (1,189) 3,007
Segment loss HYaEE (2,026) (1,553) - (3,579)
Unallocated income AAEA 843
Unallocated corporate expenses AOENGBER (14,990)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREER (462)
Share of results of associates PaRaL NI (30,313)
Loss before taxation MR EE (48,501)

Note: Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the
results from each segment without allocation of central
administration costs including directors’ emoluments,
interest income, share of results of associates, impairment
loss on goodwill and income tax. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Chaoyue Group Limited B EBE AR 27 Annual Report 2015

B - MEBEHE THIRIRITHBUGK -

LENEERS B Z ST BERBAK F3MAR
SEZEEE M NnBREERSEIEZE
#8 WARET R EEQJQ%TTIEK;E?FH(“%%%MI
T MEBBA - DEBERRRSE  BERE
EIREAFEHR) - hAMEREERREZRE
BB R RBFEERZTTE °

/—‘F‘V



92

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 882 —E—RAF=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and
liabilities by operating and reportable segment as at 31

7. WARZHEEFR (4#)

PTEEERAER
UTAE-ZE—RER—"
&Miﬁﬂ

—mFE=A=+—H

HD ¢E£§|J2$%@§F&E\ﬁ

March 2015 and 2014. DA
2015 2014
—E—-AF —EF—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
ASSETS BE
Segment assets Aﬂiﬁlg
Assets for operating and reportable segments &3 N EL R DB EE
Property development YEERE 3,111,407 -
Consultancy services B AR 7% - 4,237
Trading of goods EmE - 776
Total segment assets DIEEERT 3,111,407 5,013
Unallocated assets ROBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHETF LA 196,523 204,353
Interests in associates iNGANCIR — 23,481
Others Hib 9,323 3,357
Total unallocated assets KB EEEEE 205,846 231,191
Consolidated total assets EEEBRE 3,317,253 236,204
LIABILITIES =N
Segment liabilities 7 *EE =3
Liabilities for operating and BEREEZROEEE
reportable segments
Property development e (3,224,320) -
Consultancy services B8 [ AR 1% (2,221) (1,888)
Total segment liabilities DEBERRE (3,226,541) (1,888)
Unallocated liabilities FvaN =N
Others Hih (7.176) (1,459)
Consolidated total liabilities meRafBeRE (3,233,717) (3,347)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 ﬂ‘ E-F—

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than bank balances and cash, interests in associates
and other assets not attributable to respective

segments; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other payables not attributable to
respective segments.

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2015

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss

or segment assets:

S E T R

AF=ZHA=+—HLFE

7. WARZEEF (4

TREERER (&)
RERNBERRALSBEERIEME

. PIBEEECOEAZEDE (RITEFR
RBe MBERBZEZUARTBRE
DR EMEERIN) + &

. FIEaEEIREAZENE (TBRED
B HMENE E%%%

HihpEEHR

BZ T AF=-HA=1+—HIFE

ug ENERMABEIXDBEERTAZK
#

Property ~ Consultancy Trading of
development services goods Unallocated Total
NERR BRER® BRES AR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THR THR TER THER
Addition to property, RENE  BRRZE
plant and equipment 1,078 - - 2,447 3,525
Depreciation of property, N BELRSENE
plant and equipment - 21 - 119 330
Impairment on property, nE - BERRERE
plant and equipment - 1,490 - - 1,490
Impairment on goodwil HERE 172,707 — - = 172,707
Provision for bad and REGEE TR
doubtful debts, net - 1,258 - - 1,258
Gain on disposal of property, LENE - BERRE e
plant and equipment - 37 - - 37
Allowance for inventories FERE - - 660 = 660
For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_—_E-—WF=ZA=1+—HIFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss HESEBMNABERSBEEERT A ZRK
or segment assets: B
Consultancy Trading of
services goods Total
FERE RS HmE S ma
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET THET THET
Additions to property, REME - BERK
plant and equipment 277 - 277
Depreciation of property, Y BEMRRBEZTE
plant and equipment 768 - 768
Impairment on goodwill P 462 - 462

Chaoyue Group Limited i EEGR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 HZE T —AF=A=1+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about geographical areas

The Group's operations are principally located in the PRC
(country of domicile). All revenue from external customers
were generated from customers in the PRC. All non-current
assets of the Group are mainly located in the PRC.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follow:

7. WARZHEEFR (4#)

12 & i &k

AEBEZEBERMNEMKLBERTE - F
BREINFEFZWAGKETEER - A&

BFEFRBEEIBUNPE -

FEEFER

RAEEFE - RAKEERBIBI10%AIAZ

BEPMT

2015 2014
—E-HE —T-MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FHT
Customer A (note i) ZPA (M1sE) = 587
Customer B (note i) X FB (Fff5ED) 1,168 1,175
Customer C (note i) ZPC (MisE) 1,169 1,175
Note i: Revenue from consultancy services MizTi © EARIRRAES YA
Note ii: The proportion of revenue from trading of goods is less than MizTii: KEEmE SR AZ D DR 10%
10%.
Information about products and services ERkREER
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as FRN - REBZIMADTOT :
follows:
2015 2014
—EB-fHF —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET
Consultancy services B8 1 AR 75 2,337 2,937
Trading of goods HmE5 87 70
2,424 3,007

Chaoyue Group Limited BiEEB AR /A5 Annual Report 2015 3



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BE—ZE—AF=A=+—HIFE

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

8. HtA - WEREE

2015 2014

—B-HF —ZT-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiT FT

Bank interest income |RITAEUWA 772 678

Investment income "ERA 103 165

Net exchange (loss) gain X (BE) WamF5E (197) 108

Provision for bad and doubtful debts RIFARBE (1,258) -
Impairment loss on property, Y% - BB KRB REBE

plant and equipment (1,490) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEKEH 2 B

plant and equipment 37 -

Others HAh (12) (451)

(2,045) 500

9. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the income of the
Group neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") is calculated
based on the applicable tax rate on assessable profits, if
applicable. The applicable EIT rate for the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries including the group entities set up or acquired
during the year ended 31 March 2015 is 25% (2014:
25%).

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FriE®i

RAEEYEELIRREBB A - A
RERE M BHRRP LB BNETHE G B -

BB ©

REMEMESHE ([DEMSH]) RERFEF
ZEAMETE (WER) - ARRPEWEA
Rl(RESEE2_Z—HAF=-A=+—HILEE
RSB ESEERE) CEBACEMEHE
EE25% (ZF—PUF : 25%) °

AEEREBERAX G Ba M EM2m ks
B BRBATE R 2 BRI ¢

2015 2014

—F-IHF —T—mF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHAT

Loss before taxation bR AT E 1R (228,441) (48,501)
Tax credit at the domestic income WA TSR R25% &

tax rate of 25% ZBIEE R (57,110) (12,125)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible PAIHIBRAZ 2 BB 2

for tax purpose 50,332 3,944
Tax effect of income not taxable MBS S BAFHEEKAZ

for tax purpose WM& (242) (226)

Tax effect of tax loss not recognised FEAMBEEEZRETE 961 829

Tax effect of share of results of associates DEBERRFEE MG E 6,059 7,578

Income tax for the year

REFZ TR

Chaoyue Group Limited BB AR A7 Annual Report 2015 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 & —E—HFE=A=+—

0. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The domestic income tax rate represents the tax rate
in the jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is
substantially based.

The Group is required to prepay LAT and EIT in accordance
with the relevant PRC tax rules in respect of pre-sale of
property development projects. As at 31 March 2015,
the amount of prepaid LAT and EIT in respect of deposits
received on sale of properties amounted to approximately
HK$17,635,000 (2014: nil), which has been presented
as deduction against the tax liabilities of the respective
subsidiary in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the
following unused tax losses that can be carried forward
to future years. Their respective expiration years are as
follows:

AR

Wt

9. FRBH (&)

T FEHHEERNEEETE
B2 &K -

LIEMERDARE

REBBRBEEBHRBRRERL - HBEME
BREFBMN I HBERRCEMNSH - B
T-RAF=ZA=+—H BABELEDERIE
CHEBMNLIHEERRCEMSHESEL
17,635,000 (ZF—WUF : T) - WHKE
B ARNGEMBRRARHIBEE -

RBERR > AEEE NI A BEERRFE
ZABATERR - KESSHHFHWT ¢

2015 2014

—E—RHE —ZE—F

Expiry year HK$'000 HK$'000
B HF 17 FET FA&T
2018 —E-N\F 531 531
2019 —E—NF 3,309 3,309
2020 —ECE4E 3,766 -
No expiry date mEE A 39,563 39,485
47,169 43,325

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
unused tax losses available for offset against future profits
due to unpredictability of future profit streams.

Chaoyue Group Limited H#iEEE AR /27 Annual Report 2015 & 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BEZE —E—RF=-A=+—HBILFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10. XFEEE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: REZBEBED N
2015 2014
—E-hEF —T—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Directors’ emoluments (Note 10(a)) EZME (F5E10()) 1,818 1,815
Other staff salaries, wages and allowances EmETH® - TE K2, 7,902 9,354
Other staff retirement benefit scheme HME T 2B REFETEIHR
contributions 365 243
Total staff costs B TR AR42%8 10,085 11,412
Auditor's remuneration % ERRT N & 1,400 950
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% « B MRE 2 ITE 330 768
Impairment losses on property, plant and Y% - BB MEEREEIE
equipment 1,490 -
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 172,707 462
Provision for bad and doubtful debts RERRREE 1,258 -
Allowance for inventories FERE 660 -
Rental expenses in respect of rented premises ~ THEY ¥ 7 SR 5,133 3,213
Listing fee & 1,071 1,069

Chaoyue Group Limited B EB AR /A7 Annual Report 2015 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BE—E—HAF=A=1+—HILFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Information regarding directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2014: five)
directors and the chief executive are as follows:

b

m

(a) FHEERBETBRAEMEZESR

10. RFEEIE (&)

ENSEAES (CE—MNF  T%) EEREBITH
AEZBE BT -

Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

HiTES BYFHTES
Zhang
Yuen Lam Man Guang 2015
Leong Luan Li Kit Dominic  Yap Yung Sheng Total
“B-hfF
RE &7 93 ®5 [543 meE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAERT TERT TERT TET TET
Fees we - - 200 200 200 600
Other emoluments Hith B
Salaries and other benefits Yo REMER 600 600 = = = 1,200
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFETEIE
contributions - 18 - - - 18
600 618 200 200 200 1,818
Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Director
WTES BUFTES
Zhang
Yuen Lam Man Guang 2014
Leong LuanLi  Kit Dominic Yap Yung Sheng Total
—Z-mE
X e o ¥5 wHE k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Fees we - - 200 200 200 600
Other emoluments Hipfe
Salaries and other benefits e RHEMER 600 600 - - - 1,200
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFET I
contributions - 15 - - - 15
600 615 200 200 200 1,815

Mr. Yuen Leong, who is an Executive Director, is also the chief
executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above

include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Chaoyue Group Limited BiEEB AR /A5 Annual Report 2015 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 2 - —RAF=A=+—HILFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two directors
(2014: two directors), whose emoluments are disclosed above.
The emoluments of the remaining three (2014: three) highest paid
employees are as follows:

10. XFEEE (&)

MisE o (4F)

(b) EEMS

FEBRLAESHATEERS (C2—NE: ME)

B REIMECREXRE - EH=% (=F—0O
FZR) BZRFHREZHMESWT

2015 2014
—E-RF —T—lEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FRT FHTT
Salaries and others e REHAM 2,864 2,732
Retirement benefit scheme contributions IRIREFIF B IR 36 30
2,900 2,762
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMENFATEHE
2015 2014
—B-AF T
Number of Number of
employee employee
EEAR BB AR
HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001 7C 21,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ L2 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No director had waived
any emoluments during both years.

BE_Z-HAER_ZT-MFE=A=+—-HILFE K
SEVEAARBDEFHIT R RS H AL EMB
T EREEFMAKNINARNEEE 2 528 - EQRE
BE RZMmEFENSEEAESREETAHE -

Chaoyue Group Limited B EB AR /A7 Annual Report 2015 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B —E—HF=A=1+—HILFE

11.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

11. BERERE
RATEG ARG GIRER R EE TR
TE®EAREHNE

2015 2014
—E2-RF —T—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHIT
Loss for the year attributable to owners BARsTEERERK
of the Company for the purposes 1 E = Py /N
of basic and diluted loss per share HEARLEARFEEE (223,794) (43,927)
Number of shares for the purposes ARt E SRR AR M #E
of basic and diluted loss per share (note) EBEZBRMEE (M) 19,039,072,320  19,039,072,320

Note:

The number of shares for the purposes of basic and diluted
loss per share includes the non-voting convertible preference
shares (see note 24) as they rank equally among themselves
and pari passu with all other ordinary shares of the Company
in issue with respect of the right to any dividends or
distribution declared.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
as the exercise price of those options is higher than the
average market price of the shares for both 2015 and

2014.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

e Z8 —
e -

F-AEZA=T—HILFE

12. V¥ BERRKE

Furniture
and office Motor Leasehold
equipment vehicles improvements Total
BAR
BARRE RE RONELEE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FhEL TiEn TiEr
cosT KR
At 1 April 2013 RZE-=F#mA—H 1,716 726 1414 3,856
Exchange adjustments [ 5 % 26 12 19 57
Additions B 21 256 - 277
At 31 March 2014 RZE-ME=A=1-H 1,763 994 1433 4,190
Exchange adjustments B AR 13 7 10 30
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 27) WEHBAR (Fi27) 177 901 - 1,078
Additions 1R 209 3 2,235 2,447
Disposals HE (5 (301) - (306)
At 31 March 2015 RZZ-R1F=A=+-H 2,157 1,604 3,678 7,439
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT FERAE
At 1 April 2013 RZE-=#MA—H 498 122 1,063 1,683
Exchange adjustments BT S 5 2 12 19
Provided for the year KEEEE 185 225 358 768
At 31 March 2014 RZE-RF=A=+—-H 683 349 1433 2,470
Exchange adjustments i 5 3% 13 7 10 30
Provided for the year REEEE 11 12 107 330
Eliminated on disposals ek i (1) (286) - (287)
Impairment loss REBE 973 517 - 1,490
At 31 March 2015 RZE-R1F=A=+-H 1,784 699 1,550 4,033
CARRYING VALUES RHEE
At 31 March 2015 R-E-RE=A=+-8 373 905 2,128 3,406
At 31 March 2014 R-E-ME=A=+-H 1,075 645 - 1,720

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis after taking into
account their estimated residual value at the following

rates per annum:

Furniture and office equipment

Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvements

20 -33":%

25%

Shorter of the lease
periods or three years

FAME - BERKERE LEREELT R
HEF RBEERR T IIFRTE

ERIVSE NN

=
MAMERE

20 —33:%

25%

MEHK=F (ABEE
)
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HK$'000

FET
cosT A
At 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 RZZE—=FMA—BE-E-—NF=A=+—H 462
Arising on acquisition of business (note 27) EHBERWE (F527) 172,707
At 31 March 2015 R-ZE-HF=A=+—H 173,169
IMPAIRMENT LOSS HEEE
At 1 April 2013 RZZ—=FMA—H -
Provision for the year FRRE 462
At 31 March 2014 RZZE—NF=A=+—H 462
Provision for the year FNEE 172,707
At 31 March 2015 RZE-—AF=A=+—H 173,169

CARRYING AMOUNT IREE
At 31 March 2015

At 31 March 2014

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
acquired 70% equity interest in Liuzhou Zhenghe and
its subsidiaries from an independent third party at total
consideration of approximately HK$355,420,000. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill with indefinite
useful lives has been allocated to one individual cash
generating unit (CGU), being property development unit.

Subsequent to the acquisition date, management of the
Company have performed an impairment assessment of
the property development unit in order to estimate the
recoverable amount of the property development unit.
The assessment was performed based on value in use
calculation. That calculation uses estimation of the cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-year period, and discount rate
of 12.16%. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation related to the cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin. For impairment
testing purposes, the management of the Company has
estimated future cash flows based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions, taking into account the unit's
past performance and management’s prudent expectation
for the market development. The carrying amount of
goodwill allocated to this CGU is determined to be fully
impaired with reference to the above assessment and
the impairment loss was mainly due to the fact that the
current state and conditions of the PRC property market
in Liuzhou city could not provide sufficient support, for
impairment testing purposes, for the Group’s expectations
made when the acquisition price was negotiated and
accordingly could not be included in the 5-year cash flow
projections.

RN-ZE—RF=A=+—H -
R-E—NF=A=+—H -

HE_ZT—RAF=A=+—HBItFE " ZISEI
M —Z WL E = F U BN EF & EHE A
70% H) IX AN #E &5 %!1&1,\%%355,420,000,%
JCe UBEREMmE EBET@%EHHZFH@
ERIEE2BYRGELEEN ([ReELE
fiz]) BB REET -

RUERHR  ARAREEECHYEEREE
LETTRER - J/MEJ%%?X@%M B2 A]
Hﬁl@i%@‘) ZA I AEETERETT  Z
AE %E*EFEE@Ttt/&Zﬂiﬁ'ﬂﬁﬁBﬁE%
|:| EMEBzREeRETANNEITIEE12.16%
ET o FHEBEFEEZZHMEIERRTIEH
EEEE/}ILA//}IL& ERAaEBEHEESRENE
& ?ﬁ))ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁi AATEBEDIRE
ERNATHBRRILTAEBMLZBERAR
EEEYMSERE CEEBHEMTRAKRRS
me PEEAREEABEN  HERABNL
2E FPMHERERE  WREAEME - &
EFEEETEZEARFRYEMSEINIMNG 2 /AR
LA T e EERNBEER AAEE 2 B R
HAERTHZ2ERBR BT ARER
ERETEA ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 n‘ E-F—

13. GOODWILL (Continued)

The impairment losses recognised during year ended 31
March 2015 to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill is
approximately HK$172,707,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, goodwill amounted
to approximately HK$462,000 is allocated to the cash
generating unit which carried out the Group’s corporate
management consultancy services under the consultancy
services segment. The goodwill was fully impaired due to
loss making performance of this operation.

14. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

S E T R

AF=ZHA=+—HLFE

1 3 . @j %i ’\/7’:3’: /\

HE _Z—HAF=A=1+—HILFEERZR
BEEERLDBERmEL172,707,000/8 7T °

BE-_Z—NOF=ZA=+T—HLEFE 4§
462,000 T B P EERSELESEN © &
ReEAENNREBRERREPEZAEE
TEEEREBRS - WEMLHE  mERmME
HURE o

14. REBEEQT 2R

2015 2014

—E-RE —T—MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Cost of interest in associates N NN W E DN 56,648 56,648
Share of post-acquisition loss and G B R BB &

other comprehensive income HE2ERA (56,648) (33,167)

- 23,481

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Acme Day Limited,
Fastmind Investments Limited and their subsidiaries
("Mining Group”) made a loss due to (a) pre-operating
loss: the Mining Group incurred expenses for preparing
for commercial operations which will start after successful
completion of the exploration and evaluation stages; and
(b) impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment mainly due to decrease in metals market
prices by comparing to previous year. The Group’s share of
impairment loss recognised by the associates amounted to
approximately HK$19,211,000 (2014: HK$9,231,000) for
the year ended 31 March 2015.

As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, the Group had interests
in the following associates through a non-wholly owned
subsidiary:
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BE_Z-—RFE=A=+—H1-EE %A
BRAR - REAREERRAAIABEEZHE R
Al (MREEE]) 558518 ARQ@EERE
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BEERREELELE 2R ROBERKA
FEESBETSEBR TRKERZEREERY
¥ BEMREZREEBE BE_T—AF
A=+t HULEFEREESHHE QR RER
Z BB #19,211,0008 7T (ZF — O 4 :
9,231,000/ 7T) °
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14. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 14. REBEE QT 2R (4)
Effective equity
interest
Place of Issued and attributable
incorporation/ fully paidup  to the Company
establishment/ share capital/  as at 31 March
Name of associates operation registered capital 2015and 2014 Principal activities Legal form
NG
R=Z-1%
k=2-mf
ZA=1-H
HRRL/ BETRHR R
A NCE R/ EEn B/ EMELR Rz IEXE EERR
%
Fastmind Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 27 Investment holding of Private limited liability company
mining operation
BRAREBRAT 36 1007 0 RREBRERR HABRAR]
Acme Day Limited Hong Kong HK$100 27 Investment holding of Private limited liability company
mining operation
EHERAT BB 100787 27 RBEBIREER IABRAT]
Tunlin Limited Liability Company  Republic of Kyrgyz KGS*5,000 27 Investment holding of Limited liability company
mining operation
Tunlin Limited Liability Company ~ S & H#AE 5, 00058 0 FEERZRERR BRAT]
Kichi-Chaarat Closed Joint Stock ~ Republic of Kyrgyz KGS*10,000 27 Mining, processing and Limited liability company
Company sales of gold and
copper
Kichi-Chaarat Closed Joint Stock ~ BB HATEANE 10,0008 77 ER MIR#EE:  BRAA
Company R
* KGS represented Kyrgyzstani som. * RSB E MATNRERE -
Note:  Kichi-Chaarat Closed Joint Stock Company is a wholly owned e RZE—RFERZFT—NONF=A=+—H"

subsidiary of Tunlin Limited Liability Company which is owned
by Fastmind Investments Limited and Acme Day Limited by
99% and 1% respectively as at 31 March 2015 and 2014.

Eagle Mountain Holding Limited, a 90% owned subsidiary of
the Group, owned 30% equity interest in each of Fastmind
Investments Limited and Acme Day Limited.
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14. RBEERT 2R (&)

The summarised financial information in respect of the RKESECUVBERNBEREGSELEF W
Mining Group is set out below on a consolidated basis: N
2015 2014
—F-8F —T—mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHTT
Current assets BB E 591,234 458,788
Non-current assets EmMBEE 9,631 33,942
600,865 492,730
Current liabilities mENBE (730,210) (414,459)
Non-current liabilities ERBER - -
(730,210) (414,459)
2015 2014
—E-RE —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT
Total revenue oL - -
Loss for the year FAEE (80,786) (101,043)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREMEZEKA ()
for the year 2,515 (955)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRNEEMZ BT (78,271) (101,998)
Group's share of results of associates REBD (B E R AIEE (24,236) (30,313)
Group’s share of other comprehensive AEESEFRNEMETE
income (expense) for the year WA (FZ) 755 (287)
Group’s share of total comprehensive AEBDEFRNEZEMA R
expense for the year (23,481) (30,600)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial LB E R B AR S I 1S R R 2 OB

information to the carrying amount of the interests in

the associates recognised in the consolidated financial

statements:

LRRZERREEZ K
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14. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

—RAF=ZA=+—HLFE

14. RBEQT 2ER (&)

2015 2014
—F-h8F — &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Net (liabilities) assets of associates BeEne (BB BEFE (129,345) 78,271
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBRBERNRHE 2
interests in associates EamsthE 30% 30%
(38,803) 23,481
Share of net liabilities position not taken AEESHREBEFHE
by the Group 38,803 -
Carrying amount of the Group’s interests AEBRBERNRZHER L
in associates FREE - 23,481
Amount of approximately HK$38,803,000 represented BHE_Z-—HAF=-A=1T—HIEFEARERD
the unrecognised share of losses of associates for the year B 2 A B E5 18 4938,803,0008 7T (ZF — Y
ended 31 March 2015 (2014: nil). F:E)o
15. DEFERED TAXATION 15. EIEHIE
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) LAT%EA$¢f&ﬂ{£¢rEﬁEWL\ ZIRIER
recognised and movements during the current and prior BEE (BB UREHAES :
years are as follow:
Profit sharing
from land
development
Others LAT EIT expenditure Total
THREXE
Hft  LBER  LEMEH BRI e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET TAT TAT TEL
(note a) (note b) (note ¢)
(Mizta) (Miztb) (FitEc)
t 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 RIE-=FMA-BR - - - - -
ZE-ME=A=+-H
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 27) Week B (MzE27) (2,315) (18,309) (50,778) 45,850 (25,552)
At 31 March 2015 W-F-RE=fA=1-A Q315 (18309  (50778) 45,850 (25,552)

Chaoyue Group Limited i E @GR /AF) Annual Report 2015 F 3
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15. DEFERED TAXATION (Continued)

Notes:

(a) LAT mainly represents the deductible temporary difference
arising from prepayment for LAT and taxable temporary
difference arising from provision of LAT in acquisition of
subsidiaries.

(b) EIT represents the taxable temporary difference arising from
appreciation in value of properties for sale recognised upon
acquisition of subsidiaries.

(© Starting from 2010, Liuzhou Zhenghe has been engaged in
land development project and details are set out in note 16.
In previous years before Liuzhou Zhenghe was acquired by the
Group, 4 parcels of land developed by Liuzhou Zhenghe were
put on public auction and acquired by Liuzhou Zhenghe itself
for property development purpose. Liuzhou Zhenghe shared
the related profit according to agreement as mentioned in
note 16 and paid tax on the shared profit. In the financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs for Group’s consolidation
purposes, this shared profit element had been eliminated in
arriving at the carrying amount of the properties for sale. The
related tax paid on this shared profit therefore give rises to
deductible temporary difference and will be reversed when
the related properties are sold.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:

S E T R

AF=ZHA=+—HLFE

15. JRERIE (&)

(@)  CHEERTEEDHIEERENES 2 TR
B B 22 R S R B B 8 BB DI I E TR BB E &
2 FER Bl Z 5

(b) EEMETELEBHNBARRERSTENETE
iZEEZJ_Eﬂ%%REHDH_,f%ﬁ

(@ B —2FR  YIMNENM—BHRFLFHEE
B FHRHENHEE6 o A KB YIN T M
?%ﬁ A0 IE 0 59 3% 6 PO 08 3 HE L E R R A

CWARERSRGZELIMEEFRE AR -
WME@@EWH%%&%%%WH%%W'
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁDﬁﬁE@ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ
#?%%WﬁiEW%%Zﬁﬁﬁ%W b3 X
ERBOREBAFEME 2 REERERE © 5L
WIS B0 R 3 A 2 AB R BT b 2 45 1] T 40
ZERMEER  WHRERYRE DERE -

ERBMBMAKR Z2HNME & TERLEREA
é}%&ﬁﬁa%ﬁﬁﬁ AN A5 8HE R g
PTVE IR IETR IR AE SR D AT -

2015 2014

—hF i

HK$'000 HKS000

FET FH&TT

Deferred tax assets RIETRIAE BE 55,573 -
Deferred tax liability EERIBERE (81,125) -
(25,552) —

16. LAND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

In 2009, ¥INEHFERRZE AR AT (Liuzhou Huagui
Property Development Co., Ltd.) (" L|uzhou Huagui”)*,
30% equity holder of Liuzhou Zhenghe (see Note 27),
entered into an agreement with Liuzhou Dongcheng
Investment & Development Co., Ltd. (“Dongcheng
Investment”) relating to the joint development of a primary
land development project of Liuzhou Industrial Projects
Exhibition Center (the “Project”), and the Project was
subsequently transferred from Liuzhou Huagui to Liuzhou
Zhenghe in 2010, pursuant to an tripartite agreement
signed among Liuzhou Huagui, Dongcheng Investment
and Liuzhou Zhenghe.
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RZZEZNF - WIMNIEF30%E=FFE ANM
ﬁ*i%fmﬁﬁﬁgéﬁﬁﬁ Al ([HNERD) (R
H27) BN R ERBEAR AR (R
B AN —HOhE RAEBHEREINIMN
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16. LAND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE
(Continued)

According to the agreement, Liuzhou Zhenghe is mainly
responsible for financing and supervising the development
of land under the Project. Under the agreement, upon
the successful auction of the parcels of land developed
under the Project, Liuzhou Zhenghe is entitled to receive
an amount based on its land development costs incurred
and a 50% profit sharing after deducting all related taxes,
selling expenses and an agreed amount of RMB250,000
per acre of land if selling price from the auction is over
RMB250,000 per acre and such auction price can cover all
costs incurred. Liuzhou Zhenghe is also required to bear
the loss if the proceeds from the public auction cannot
fully recover the land development cost already incurred by
Liuzhou Zhenghe. As at 31 March 2015, land development
expenditure is stated at costs less impairment as the Group
expect that it would be successful in securing the parcels
of land being developed upon the land being put for
auction for sale. It is expected that the respective parcel of
land will be put for auction in the first quarter of 2016.

* The English name is for identification purpose only

17. INVENTORIES

No balance was noted as at 31 March 2015 while the
balance in 2014 represents wines of HK$766,000.

18. PROPERTIES FOR SALE

16. THFRBREZEH (&)

BiEwE WNEMEZEEEAZEEERETNZ
T FAEMSMEWHETES - BEHHE - B
RINHEZBE T2RELME  HESE
BBAETMARE250,0000T © MABIASERIA
S PTEAZ 2 IR - WIN IE 1A U EET
EEZITHRAZEKAE  NMEEZHES0% 5
DR (MR AERBERE  HERIALR
T4 EEMARK250,0007T) © HABKIAE T
BREE LRSI AMMNEMS EL 2 b5
B UNERMMASEBR - RZE—H
FZA=Z+—H BRASEEHEEERSB
TH R IABE R NIRESRE T - WL
BT LK AR EY R o BEH S8 L i

RIZE—REFHEZTEHLBE -
17. ®E&

—RHFE=A=+—HI &L —F—
¢ %%m%%@f‘7%ow%no

18. #FEWE

2015 2014
—Z-hf%F —T—MEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FHET
Completed properties for sale B AFE 317,339 -
Properties under development for sale BER &2 LES 1,727,596 -
2,044,935 -
Carrying amount of properties under TEEPE K 2 FHEH & R A
development for sale expected to M 2 BREE :
be completed:
Within one year —FNR 267,000 -
After one year — 1% 1,460,596 -
1,727,596 -
As at 31 March 2015, certain properties for sale with RZE—RF=-A=1T—H EEHELHER
carrying amount of approximately HK$580,243,000 (2014: 580,243,000,%75 (ZFE—F: FT) 25 THF
nil) were pledged to secure certain bank and other loans EVMEE TEW  (EAXEBEEESE TRITR
of the Group. HMERZER -

Chaoyue Group Limited H#iEEE AR /27 Annual Report 2015 & 5§
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. BWEZRERHEMEWIRE
2015 2014
—E-AfF —Z=—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Trade receivables EUNE S ERIA 1,817 2,527
Less: allowance for doubtful debts T RIERREME (1,258) -
559 2,527
Other receivables and prepayments H b e W BR 18 IR TS BB
Other deposits (note a) Hiniz® (Mizta) 25,724 -
Prepayments for construction work BETREZENHIA 216,316 -
Other tax prepayment H I TER 5RIB 9,334 -
Staff advances BT 657 -
Interest receivables JEUFI B, 10,478 -
Other receivables HipEBR T8 3,276 548
Other prepayment HMIB B 3,865 2,809
Amounts due from third parties (note b) U ZE = H 8 (KisEb) 49,589 -
Total trade and other receivables U E 5 BRTE K& B A FE UL
FRIEAATE 319,798 5,884

Notes: B 5T -

(a) Other deposits include an amount of approximately (a) HMZepRASEERM BTN —24
HK$24,118,000 guarantee deposits paid to the local 24,118,000/ 7T I (R 8 € - LATE DN T 2248 —
government for the Group to construct a hotel in Liuzhou FOBIE o ZERIEGERIAME TRREERE - 18
city. The amount will be fully refunded at the commencement FEREE—S-R"E=ZA=T—HILFER
of the construction, which is expected to be refunded during [l o
the year ended 31 March 2016.

(b) Amounts represent the balance due from individual third (b) RIBIEERE = s - ZSHIEREZE S

parties which were non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand. In addition, included in amounts
due from third parties is an amount of approximately
HK$38,081,000 of which EFFEESHER AR (Guangxi
Zhenghuan Trading Company Limited)*, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Liuzhou Zhenghe, borrowed the money from
the bank on behalf of EFEIEMEELEEAFR A A (Guangxi
Zhenghe Industrial Co., Ltd) (“Guangxi Zhenghe Industrial)*,
which was the holding company of former shareholder of
Liuzhou Zhenghe at the time of the borrowing and the
borrowing is secured by the assets of Guangxi Zhenghe
Industrial.

The English name is for identification purpose only

Chaoyue Group

A - EIEE - R ERAREREE - I -
WINEMZ2EHBRAREREEZESER AT
REBAENEZESEBESRAR ([ERENE
2| WNIEMATER R Z AR MERITIE
B R EH A E Uk 55 = 77 FRUE £938,081,00058
TC REERTVAEAEMEENEEFEKA -
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables of
the Group presented based on the date of delivery of
properties to the customers at year end of 31 March 2015
and based on invoice date at year end of 31 March 2014,
which approximated the respective revenue recognition
date:

19. EBREZREARELMWEKIRE (@)

AEBZEVWESEBEZERSIT (KT —
FF=ZRA=+—HZ2HF&E8  BERAEFXAY
¥t E MR -_E—NWE=RA=+—H2
FHEB RBZEAH (REBKRARERBEHHE
BH)RTE) T

2015 2014

—B-HF —T-MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

0-90 days 0£90H - 10
91-180 days 91%180H 559 -
181-365 days 1812365H - 629
1-2 years —EWE - 1,888
559 2,527

The trade receivables as at 31 March 2015 included the
receivables from the property sales of approximately
HK$559,000, whereby the banks have agreed to provide
mortgage facilities to the property purchasers and the
banks are in the process of releasing the funds to the
Group.

Trade receivables as at 31 March 2014 represent
receivables from consultancy service.

Consideration in respect of properties sold are received
in accordance with the terms of the related sales and
purchase agreements, certain portion on instalment
payment are received on or before the date of delivery of
the properties to customers and the remaining balance are
normally settled within 90 days from date of delivery.

Apart from the trade receivables arising from properties
sold, the Group generally allows an average credit period
of 30 days to 180 days to its trade customers.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the
trade receivables from the date credit was initially granted
up to the reporting date and no impairment is necessary
for those balances which are not past due.
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TE-RFEZA=t+-HZERZEFERESR
Y3 Y & EURBRTE 4)559,000/8 T » MIRTTE R
EMWEBEFREBEBEE  BRITEERSN
EEEWES -

—E-NMFE=ZA=+—BItEKZ SKRBIER
MRS 2 UL BR1E -

EEMEZREDNRBEMEEEE R HERK
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Apart from the trade receivables on customers arising
from properties sold, before accepting any new customer
the Group has assessed the potential customer’s credit
quality and defined credit rating limits of each customer.
Limits attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers changes in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up
to the reporting date and no impairment is necessary for
those balances which are not past due.

At 31 March 2015, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$559,000 (2014:
HK$2,517,000) which are past due for which the Group
has not provided for impairment loss as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and amounts are still
considered recoverable based on historical experience. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but
not impaired

S E T R

AF=ZHA=+—HLFE

19. EWEZREAREMBEWVIERE

HEEMEEEZEPRWESIKREIN - BR
T EFH  AEEGENEEBETF 21
REELABTEPFIHEERE - EPEER
BEREFHSETRY ARERETREE
ZR\Z AR - DEEEEBERARE
FHEEREAHAIL  BREZREZERIE

REZZE - MR FHRHEARBE - BIBA
HERE

RZZE—RAF=ZA=+—H BN EREZEL
EEMEREHNEBSBERNBELRIDE
BAETKE  AEERKEZRELHRN B
JFE Uiz B 78 BR T 42 {8 49559,000/8 7T (— & — Y
% 12,517,000 70) E@EmAEREHRIER
BEBERE AEEEUZEEHUMERSER
AR -

EEE M R E N K E S RERE O T

2015 2014

—2-HF —T—MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

181-365 days 181£365H 559 629
1-2 years — 2 WE = 1,888
559 2,517

Chaoyue Group Limited BBH#EB AR /A7 Annual Report 2015 R
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in
respect of trade and other receivables

19. EWESREREMEWRIRE £)

THREWEZREARAEMERERE ZRERE
S5

2015 2014

—E2-RF —T—MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Balance at beginning of the year FYEEH - -
Impairment losses recognised BRI EE R 1,258 -
Balance at the end of the year FaREEER 1,258 -

As at 31 March 2015, included in the allowance for
doubtful debts are individually impaired trade and other
receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$1,258,000
(2014: nil).

20. RESTRICTED/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/
BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Restricted/pledged bank deposits

Restricted bank deposits amounting to approximately
HK$52,752,000 as at 31 March 2015 mainly represent the
proceeds from presale of properties with the restriction
of use for settlement of construction costs for relevant
property project, which will be leased upon the completion
of the relevant project.

Pledged bank deposits amounting to approximately
HK$342,727,000 as at 31 March 2015 represent deposits
pledged to banks to secure short-term and long-term
borrowings (2014: nil). The pledged bank deposits will be
released upon the settlement of relevant borrowings (note
23).

The Group’s restricted/pledged bank deposits carry interest

at prevailing market rates which range from 0.35% to
4.12% per annum as at 31 March 2015.

Chaoyue Group Limited 8 EER AR Annual Report 2015 3R

RZZE—RF=A=1+—H REBEEERE
AR ERKE ZRE R EMEKERTE  &5E
B/41,258,0008 7L (ZZ—WF : T) o

20. ZRE BEBRITERRT
mEREE

ZRE BEARTER

RZZE—RAF=ZA=+—H IBRHETER
#952,752,000%8 T © T EHEBEMENMER
B RBRARSNEBEMEIEE REERK -
EEAMEXEEBNEHEELTHHMA -

RZZE—RF=ZA=1+—H BEHETIER
#/5342,727,000/ 7T+ B T IEITARS
HEERBERZHER (ZE—HF: &) B
BEHRIT TGN FERBER (iF23) &F
[g{% o

R-ZE—RF=A=+—8 AEBEXEH ~
EEMEITESTIZN F0.35%F4.12% 2 IR 1T
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20. RESTRICTED/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/
BANK BALANCES AND CASH (Continued)

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2015, bank balances and cash comprise
cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits
which carry variable interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.57% (2014: 0.01% to 0.9%) per annum with an original
maturity of three months or less.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the bank
balances and cash are following amount denominated
in currency other than the functional currency of the
respective group entity:

20. ZRE BEBRITERRT
mEREE @)

RTEFRES

R-ZZF-—RAF=ZA=+—8 RKRT&EFLRS
BRAKEMFE2RERREZNMAE R =(E

AT FHFEFENTF001%E0.57%
ZE—DOF 0.01%E09%) 2 EHRITE

RBERR  ROTEFMREBETINASE
BER ZNEEEUIN 2 ERFHEZ SR

2015 2014
—E-RfF —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiET FHTT

usD ETT 124,798 124,425
HK$ BT 48,052 74,004
172,850 198,429
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 HZE T —AF=A=1+—HIFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. ENEZREAREMENIKRE
2015 2014
—EB-TF —ET—MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHAT
Trade payables FERTE 5 ER18 29,774 -
Accrued construction cost to FETE BT 7 FEE TR EER AN
contractors (note a) (Mfz¥a) 90,971 -
Receipt in advance from customers AW E P FIE 1,269 1,888
Accruals et &M 2,532 1,105
Amount due to staff FEfT 8 THRIE 10,282 -
Amount due to third parties (note b) R E =08 (Msb) 218,097 -
Retention payables (note c) ERREBE® (MEko) 5,712 -
Payables for acquisition of W BB B & R FE AT BRIE (Bt eEd)
subsidiaries (note d) 355,420 -
Other payables H fth JEAT AR IR 1,488 160
Other tax payables (note e) EbEMTIE (Kite) 3,155 194
718,700 3,347

Notes

Chaoyue Group Limited B &EEER AR

Balances represent accrued construction costs payable to
contractors as at 31 March 2015.

Balances represent the amounts due to third parties which
were non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. As at 31 March 2015, included
in amounts due to third parties included an amount of
approximately HK$9,034,000 due to Guangxi Zhenghe
Industrial (see Note 19), which is the former related party
of Liuzhou Zhenghe. The remaining aggregate amounts
of approximately HK$209,063,000 mainly represent the
amounts due to third parties, namely, AT ihZEE B 5
BERAR, WNHERREGRAR, YINARKRERR
A7 and BIMKREZEAR A, which represent monies
advanced by these parties when they were business partners
of the then majority shareholder of Liuzhou Zhenghe.

Balances represent the retention money held by the Group
according to construction contracts in which such amounts
will be released within one year after the completion of the
construction work.

Balance represents the consideration payable for acquisition
of subsidiaries, which was due and paid in April 2015.

Balance as at 31 March 2015 mainly consisted of #7#% (Deed
Tax) payable amounting to approximately HK$2,860,000.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for purchase of construction materials for properties for
sale. The average credit period for purchase of construction
materials ranged from 180 days to 365 days.

The following is an aged analysis of the Group’s trade
payables presented based on the date of materials received
at the end of the reporting period:

21. BNEZREAREMENKRE (@)

ENEZERBETERREMNIEEERBEEN
RZEATMFHIE - RBEEMBE 2 FHEE
HlA180HE365H -

AT RAEEENESRANRSHRRES
YeER A KL B B BRI D AT

2015 2014
=F-1F —FT-0mF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET TET

0-90 days
91-180 days
181-365 days
Over 365 days

0%90H
912180H
181&365H
365H AL

27,332 -
820 -
1,600 -
22 -

29,774 -

22. DEPOSITS RECEIVED FOR SALE OF
PROPERTIES

Considerations in respect of properties sold are received
in accordance with the terms of the related sales and
purchase agreements, certain portion are received on or
before the date of delivery of the properties to customers
which is recorded as deposits received for sale of
properties.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group has received deposits
of approximately HK$640,931,000 in which the title of
the properties are not expected to be transferred to the
customers within 12 months.

22. HENMFRFAWEZRE

EEMEZREDNREMEE S HE 2 GRHK
B EBBORATFIMNMEE B ZA
B EARIBHEMEMKZRSE -

RZZE—RF=A=1+—H xEEDKRIK
©#47640,931,000/8 70 - B TEHAMIEMEETE
FreRnt-_EARERTEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B —E—HF=A=1+—HILFE

23. BORROWINGS

23. B

2015 2014
—F-1F —T0mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank loans RITEN 82,508 -
Other loans HEbfE 1,479,767 -
1,562,275 -

Analysed as: DT -
Secured A 1,368,368 -
Unsecured it 193,907 -
1,562,275 -

As at 31 March 2015, all borrowings were fixed-rate
borrowings and denominated in RMB and due within one
year.

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s
fixed-rate borrowings are as follows:

R-ZE-—RAF=A=+—B FAEBKHARE
EMERER - —FRIE - BUARKHE -

FAREBEENEERZERFE 2 & E 1M
T

2015 2014
—F-1F —TF

=

Effective interest rate BRRF =

7.45%-12.00% -

As at 31 March 2015, included in the Group's other
loans is an aggregate amount of HK$1,368,368,000
representing loans provided by trust companies. The
borrowings carry interest at fixed rate ranging from 7.8%
to 12.00% per annum.

As at 31 March 2015, certain of the Group’s trust loans
were indirectly secured by the Group’s properties for sale
and bank deposits pledged to a bank and the bank has in
turn issued letter of guarantee to the trust companies as
security for the loans granted.

Chaoyue Group Limited BiEEB AR /A5 Annual Report 2015 3
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23. BORROWINGS (Continued)

The followings show the carrying amounts of assets
pledged to secure the borrowings provided to the Group:

=+ =
23. BEF (&)

RARBZEFEERZEEREENREE
T

2015 2014
=F-1F —FT-0mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT

Secured by: RN 7R
Properties for sale HEME 580,243 -
Pledged deposits it 342,727 -
922,970 -

In addition to the Group's own assets pledged, Guangxi
Zhenghe Industrial, which is the former related party of
Liuzhou Zhenghe and other related parties of former
shareholder of Liuzhou Zhenghe had also pledged certain
assets to the bank to secure the borrowings to the Group.

24. NON-VOTING CONVERTIBLE
PREFERENCE SHARES

On 12 February 2009, the Group acquired Park Wealth
International Limited and its subsidiaries (“Park Wealth
Group”) pursuant to the agreement dated 11 October
2008 (the "Agreement”) entered into between
Successtime Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company and the shareholders of Park Wealth
International Limited comprising Sure Achieve Limited,
Sureguide Limited and Teamwon Limited (“Vendors”).
According to the Agreement, the Group should issue
convertible preference shares to the Vendors for the
acquisition for the Park Wealth Group within 10 business
days of the finalisation of the audited consolidated net
profit after tax of the Park Wealth Group for the year
ended 31 December 2009.

BAKEESCDHEMZEERIN - HINEMZ
RIEREE A LB P IEANE 22 R A0 M 1E A0 A (AR
RZEMBABBALTNARTERETEEAS
REE 2 ERIERER -

24, EREETHBELER

RZEBEZAF-_A+-H AEBEBREARQT
2EMBRAFKETERAREEHREEAERA
Al([EEEE] piElEEER A BEA
RAGBIEAEARAR)([EAH]) ZBRER=
TENFF+ A+ —HII Lz ([ZHE]) K
BEEEBLENBAR - BEZWE A&
EEAERErEREERE _STAF+_A=
+—BULFEZEEREAGRTREB R F5EE
TREXARNRAE T LIBRELRK -
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In July 2010, the consideration for the acquisition of
the Park Wealth Group and the aggregate fair value of
the convertible preference shares was finalised to be
HK$41,170,000, which was satisfied by the issuance of an
aggregate of 214,637,160 convertible preference shares
with a par value of HK$0.001 each (after adjustment
for share subdivision) which could be converted into the
Company’s ordinary shares without maturity date. The
convertible preference shares should at all times rank
equally among themselves and pari passu with all other
ordinary shares of the Company in issue with respect of
the right to any dividends or distributions declared.

In the event of liquidation or dissolution or winding up, or
merger, or reorganisation that will result in any distribution
of assets of the Company to the existing shareholders of
the Company, the holders of the convertible preference
shares would receive an amount equal to 100% of the
face value of the convertible preference shares. In addition,
the ranking of the convertible preference shares was
higher than ordinary shares, but lower than creditor in
case of liquidation.

The holder of each convertible preference shares should
not have any voting rights. The convertible preference
shares should be non-redeemable and would not be listed
on any stock exchange.

The holders of the convertible preference shares should be
entitled to convert the convertible preference shares into
ordinary shares in the following manner:

(i) Up to 40% of the convertible preference shares
anytime during the period commencing from the
first business day following the second anniversary
of the date of completion of the agreement until
the third anniversary of the date of completion of
the Agreement;

RZE—ZEFLA KEEREERE
NAHBEARZAABEEERKREE R
41,170,000 7. Z R B EBRBETAE L
214,637,160 & R HE{E0.0018 T (E stk
FAERARE) cA LBEER 2 AR
AERHAL Y B AEER - RIS IR 2 EA AR
BEpRFEZEMNME @ 7] LIRELRE L
ZHEREARNAMAEEMBE BTERRNITE
KR ZEEREFHAL -

LB MARERER A6 T4
MEBEEAIARRREERD IR T ANRRRA K
R AR ABREERFA ABRIESENA L
BB EI00%EE < 8RR - I WELS
A RBREERZ A SN EBR - mER
BREA -

ERAIRBEBERZIFEABETAILERE-
A HIRE LR AT ER - AT E
ER G ET o

ARBMERRZFBEAKAER NG LB
A BB SRR R

(i) REZpHETKEHmMEFREESE
B E & e B 8w =B F 1FHE
e IR % 40% 2 7] IR E IR



(ii) Up to 70% of the convertible preference shares
anytime during the period commencing from the
first business day following the third anniversary
of the date of completion of the agreement until
the fourth anniversary of the completion of the
Agreement;

(i) All the remaining convertible preference shares
any time after the first business day following the
fourth anniversary of the date of completion of the
Agreement.

The holder of the convertible preference shares should not
exercise the conversion rights and the Company should
not issue any shares if, upon such conversion and/or issue,
(i) the holder of the convertible preference shares and
the parties acting in concert with it, would be interested
in 30% (or such amount as might from time to time
be specified in the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and
Mergers as being the level for triggering a mandatory
general offer) or more of the then enlarged issued ordinary
share capital of the Company on the relevant conversion
date, or (i) the shareholding in the Company held by the
public would be less than 25% or the minimum prescribed
percentage as set out in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the
“Listing Rules”) from time to time.

As at 31 March 2014, all the non-voting convertible
preference shares had been converted into ordinary shares
and no conversion had taken place during the year ended
31 March 2015. (2014: 163,124,242 shares of non-voting
convertible preference shares were converted into
163,124,242 ordinary shares).

(i) RxpETKABRRZBFREEE:
B 2 & 15 e e Ak B 2w 0 R 4F (- B
FER IR ZT70% 2 Al L IRE IR -

(i) PRz AR B HA W PO R 1R
BRI SR PT B &R N A SR B SEAY

WA RBEBEARZEFEEATELRER,
RABETEMBGDE - ()] LRELRFES
ARHE—BITHATHEERARFRIEH LR
AEIE B 2 REIERE BT LR AEE30%
(kBB RRWEE R E TR T RAE B
BRI mMEBER 2 BBERE) kALY
B AR ZAREREHSENR25%
ﬁﬁ%%xﬁaﬁimﬁwwimﬁWDTﬁ
Il e xEREBOL - BB B KETH]
ST -

RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H8 EREFETLKR
%%ha%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ B BEREE T
FE=ZA=+—HILEFEMERETMER
(ZZT V04 163,124,242 AR EREA] 3 ¥
BEIRDHIRAE163,124,242 R E@A%) °
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. BRZA
Number of
shares Amount
R E S5
HK$'000
FHL
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.001 each FHEE0.001B Tz LR
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and RZE—=FMA—H-
31 March 2015 “E-MFE=RA=1+—HBkK
—E-RF=A=+—8H 498,000,000,000 498,000
Non-voting convertible preference FRMEE0.001B L EIEZRE
shares of HK$0.001 each AR E IR
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and RZE—=FmMA—H "
31 March 2015 “E-NF=A=+—HK
“E-hF¥=R=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER :
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.001 each FRMEE0.001H T2 LR
At 1 April 2013 NZE—=FMA—H 18,875,948,078 18,876
Conversion of non-voting convertible BEERTRRELRLE
preference shares into ordinary shares =R sl 163,124,242 163
At 31 March 2014 and 2015 RZE-—DNOFER_ZT—1F
—A=+—8H 19,039,072,320 19,039
Number of
shares Amount
BRHEE kx|
HK$'000
FHAT
Non-voting convertible preference FREE0.00IBIT . BRRE
shares of HK$0.001 each AR B S iR
At 1 April 2013 RZE—=F1"A—H 163,124,242 31,289
Conversion of non-voting convertible ENEETRRELR SR
preference shares into ordinary shares p= (163,124,242) (31,289)
At 31 March 2014 and 2015 R-ZE-—NFER-_F—1F
=B=+—H - -

Chaoyue Group Limited & EARAF Annual Report 2015 F#f
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26. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares and
share premium of the then holding company and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the
group reorganisation on 25 May 1993, together with the
amounts transferred from share capital and share premium
account as a result of the capital reduction taken place
in August 2001, less dividends paid, amounts utilized
on redemption of shares and amount eliminated against
accumulated losses.

27. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 31 March 2015, the Group acquired 70% equity
interests in Liuzhou Zhenghe and its subsidiaries from
an independent third party, Fuging Wangfu Property
Development Company Limited (“Fuging Wangfu”), by
cash consideration of RMB280,000,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$355,420,000. The amount of goodwill
arising as a result of the acquisition was approximately
HK$172,707,000. Liuzhou Zhenghe and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the primary land development
and development and sale of properties in PRC. The Group
acquired Liuzhou Zhenghe so as to diversify the Group's
business scope into property development and widen its
revenue base.

26. EHA

AEBEHBBRRAERERARDZRMHEME
EEDEEBEARBR-NANA=FRA-+H
FEREEAFRAKREMET RMIEEZLE
B EZRRER-FT—F /A ARURBA B R
KRG EREBHEZRIE  BRERMKRE - &
(31 B 7 P PR SRR B2 36 R AT B R 2 508 -

27. WEKE QT

RZE—RAF=ZA=+—8 AEEMRBILF
—HhmETHEEMERZEAR AR ([BEH
&) U BE WM IE A0 X H Y B A B170% A% 7 i
@ BHEREBAEAR280,000,0007T (X%
7355,420,000%8 ) - WIEEL ZEHE2TL
#172,707,0007% 7T o #0 N 1IEF0 f2 E 8 A A
FTEREL I AEABRNERNEEDESE
e REBKWENNEMEESEXKEET
%Ztit - WA B UG AR o

HK$'000
FET
Total consideration transferred: CEBEAESR
Cash Re -
Consideration payable due within one year AR B SR8 & H b fE T
included in trade and other payable FRIERN—FREHZ BARE 355,420
355,420

Acquisition-related costs were insignificant and were
excluded from the cost of acquisition and were recognised
as an expense in the period.
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Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of

REBEERAZEEREE

acquisition:
Net book Fair value Fair
value change value
FHFE AREEE AN
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT FET
Net assets acquired WHEFEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRB 1,078 - 1,078
Deferred tax assets IR B = 55,573 - 55,573
Land development expenditure TS 301,500 - 301,500
Properties for sale FEME 1,813,791 231,144 2,044,935
Trade and other receivables fEWE ZERIE KX
Hth eI AR TR 312,842 - 312,842
Restricted/pledged bank deposits ZBRE S BEMRITER 395,479 - 395,479
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRAS 18,511 - 18,511
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 BRIB R
HAb ETRRIE (353,883) - (353,883
Deposit received on sales of properties HEVEMRBIRS (755,696) - (755,696
Borrowings due within one year R—FEREEZ B (1,562,275) - (1,562,275
Amount due to non-controlling interests FE FEIE PR AE 2 TN I8 (73,526) - (73,526
Tax liabilities HEaE (42,395) - (42,395
Deferred taxation liability BIERIBAE (2,315) (78,810) (81,125
Total HEt 108,684 152,334 261,018
The trade and other receivables acquired with a fair value BUWEE A 1E#312,842,000/8 L2 FEWE 58k
of approximately HK$312,842,000 approximate its gross BREMERREEES NS EAE
contractual amount.
In addition, certain customers had also signed contracts o ETEPIREYMNIEMBZZSOUNEE

with Liuzhou Zhenghe to purchase the properties of which

S

Hep  ARWER_Z—REF=A=+

approximately HK$1,384,813,000 (net of deposits received
on sale of properties) was not due for payment because
the properties have not been delivered as at 31 March
2015.

No other contingent liabilities had been recognised apart
from the guarantee provided by Liuzhou Zhenghe in
respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks
in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by
purchasers of the Group’s properties of approximately
HK$290,175,000 as disclosed in note 30.

—BHREARRN  WIEBES491,384,813,000%8
7T (FIBRSHEMEBIZE) ©

BRUMNIER BAREBYME 2 EREFIR] Y IZE
ERmMES TRATRE ZZEREREERY
290,175,000 7T (M FE30MHEE) s - BEE
BRI EMRAEE -
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27. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 27. WEEKMIB AR (&)
(Continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WIESEELEZEHE
HK$'000
FAT
Consideration payable due within one year STAENE SERE R AN RE
included in trade and other payable N—FANEIH 2 B E 355,420
Add: non-controlling interests (note) o SRR R (MEE) 78,305
Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired B BB RIEAFEEZ ARE (261,018)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WBEEHEEZHE 172,707

Note:  The non-controlling interests (30%) in Liuzhou Zhenghe of

approximately HK$78,305,000 was measured by reference
to the proportionate share of the fair value of acquiree’s net
identifiable assets at the acquisition date.

The Group paid the premium to acquire Liuzhou Zhenghe
because the Group wanted to diversify into different
business sector and believed the PRC property market
would provide good return in the future. These benefits
were not recognised separately from goodwill because
they did not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

BE5E © 0N IE F0 2 3F 7% % 3 25(30%)%978,305,000/8
TC ¢ THIRIBUREE B AR (R Uk BB 5 2 T A BEE
EAREZHLHIEE -

AEBRKBUIMEMINTHE  REZR
SERZTBERETRANES DAL LAE
FEYMEMISRRARERFER - ARZE
MEWAREZ A FRNEENERTE - AT E
HEE DR

BEH R E £ 2 BN AIERB AR -

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEBELEZHESRATE
HK$'000
FET
Bank balances and cash acquired Friiis v R1T8F RIR® 18,511

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2014,
total group revenue for the year would have been
approximately HK$417,952,000, and loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$224,627,000. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2014, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.
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28. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group made minimum lease payments of
approximately HK$5,133,000 (2014: HK$3,213,000)
under operating leases during the year in respect of rented

premises and office equipment.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments of
approximately HK$10,297,000 (2014: HK$5,264,000)

28, KEFHAKRIE

REBEREEA

T (ZF—

AEBRAFERBEHEMELRPLAEREZ
LEBOEL 2 HIEBELNL A5,133,0008
PO : 3,213,000/ 7T) °

RBERR  AEERBE T IRECERYM
ARUTHEHABS N z2&EBEESAEY
10,297,000 JT (= & — U 4F : 5,264,000/

under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as JT) N
follows:
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-mF
Rented Office Rented Office
premises equipment premises  equipment
HEYE BAZERE HENE POERAE
HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET FET FET
Within one year —&FR 5,226 7 2,777 7
In the second to fifth year inclusive BE_FEFERF
(BREEEMF) 5,051 13 2,459 21
10,277 20 5,236 28

Leases are negotiated for a term of 1 to 5 years with fixed

rentals.

29. OTHER COMMITMENTS

HAOBESH—E21F  YEBEEHEE -

29. HfEiE

Construction commitments in respect of

properties for sale contracted for
but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements

BERIERRTBERBREZ
BT EMR 2 ERRdE

2015 2014
—E-HF —T—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAT
225,044 -
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Guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of
mortgage facilities granted by certain banks in connection
with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of
the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments
by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued
interests thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted
purchaser to banks, the Group is then entitled to take
over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee
period commences from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the
individual property ownership certificate.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted on 17 September 2004 pursuant to a resolution
passed by the Company’s shareholders on 17 September
2004 for the primary purposes of providing incentives to
any directors or full-time employees of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (“Eligible Employees”) and expired
on 16 September 2014. Under the Scheme, the Board of
Directors of the Company is authorised to grant options
at a consideration of HK$1 per option to the Eligible
Employees to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The maximum number of shares issued or which may be
issuable under the Scheme cannot exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company excluding any shares
issued pursuant to the Scheme at the date of adoption.
The number of shares in respect of which options granted
and may be granted to any Eligible Employee is not
permitted to exceed 30% of the aggregate number of
shares for the time being issued and issuable under the
Scheme.

2014
—E—OF
HK$'000
FHAT

RRTAEBYERETZ
RIBBE RRITRE 2 ER

AEEHRE TRITRE 2 RBBE R HER
ZERBRESNBANREMERENARILL
BIBER - RBEERZGK  MEZFETER
WIBFR AKREARERRITEEETER
ZImBETERERA NS REREIK - A
SEHEREREEAMMEIZEMAE - &
REAPR R ARRBR IR IBIE TR L B HER - YR E
FEUS BRI B EE R

BREARARRR-_F-—HFHALATLRER
RFBE - ARFAR_ZTZTEWNFAATHERR
WEREE (58] TEENRREA
NEAFEEAMEAR ZENEFTRERIES
(BEREER]) MASER-_FT—MNFNAA
TRBEm - RIFHE > ARRZEFTSER
BZSNDEBREIETZRERTEERREER
Bt - ARBEARRBZBAD ©

BIBEFTEIMBETHA FREITZEERODBE T
BSHAARANEMTEER 22 BHITRA
10% - WIREET BT 2 EMRMDERIN - KT
SARETEREGEREEZERESI R 2R
MEE TSR BRBETEEREITRA T8
2R BEZ230% °



The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of the offer together with
the payment of nominal consideration of HK$1 per option
by the grantee.

The exercisable period of an option is determined by the
directors at their discretion. The expiry date of the option
may be determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company which shall not be later than the expiry day of
the Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the greater of: (i) the
closing price of the Company on the offer date; (i) the
average of the closing price of the Company’s shares for
the 5 trading days immediately preceding the offer of
the options and (i) the nominal value per share of the
Company.

On 31 July 2009, a special resolution was passed by the
shareholders of the Company to approve the subdivision
of the issued and unissued ordinary shares and convertible
preference shares into 10 subdivided ordinary shares and
10 subdivided convertible preference shares of HK$0.001
each respectively. Pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Scheme and the requirements of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules, the exercise price of the share options
granted under the Scheme would be adjusted from
HK$5.32 per ordinary share to HK$0.532 per subdivided
share while the number of shares of the Company to
be allotted and issued upon exercise of the subscription
rights attaching to the share options would be adjusted
from 8,400,000 ordinary shares to 84,000,000 subdivided
ordinary shares as a result of the share subdivision. A total
number of 18,000,000 share options had been exercised
or lapsed in previous years.

Details of the outstanding share options under the Scheme
during the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014 are as
follows:

AERARRERR L B BEF21BARAR G
BiEzEZ  WARKZMABTZREBAR

=

BREZTEMDHESFNRETE - BREZ
IHEAHRARRCEEFSETE  EIFER
AEZEHA -

TEERARARZESTERE - LHTSERIA
TEERZESE (A ARZBNNEREE
HABZWHIE : (AR RZRHRERR T
BEIR A ER S B2 FHRTHE - Rii)AR 7
ZBIEE -

RZBEZNFLA=Z1+—H ARABREREB
—IEFFRRER  HERBE BT RRETZE
BERARATEBELERD AFABI0RFTR
HE0.001 T 2 Al E@mAR 10 ZF ik mEE
0.001B T 2 A A] LB SR - BRIEFTEIH
BAREGEHEAR ETHRBBI1I7TENRE - B
BaRt o EBRECTEESAERTER
S.RBITHABEEGRIFMAKMN0.532F L M
RN EEREN S 2 REEEITEMS T
BREBEITZARQNBIRME B AR D IR mA
8,400,000/% & 18 A% 8% 2 84,000,000% #r 48
B BAFEEITERIR CERERE S
18,000,00017 °

RBE-_Z-—RAFA-_T-—OF=A=+—H
I FEAS 2 AARITEBRE ZFBOT -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BEZE —E—RF=-A=+—HBILFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

31. BR#EE (&)

Lapsed during
Outstanding at the year ended Outstanding at
Category of Grantee Date of grant Exercisable period 1 April 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2015
REZ
R-Z-IF —E-nf A\ZB-1%
mA—-H =A=+-H =A=t-H
ERAER BREAH (kcd e RATE I3 730 fef RAT
Directors 17 July 2008 17/7/2008 - 16/9/2014 6,000,000 (6,000,000)
B ZET\FLAT+tA 17/7/2009 - 16/9/2014 6,000,000 (6,000,000) -
171712010 - 16/9/2014 6,000,000 (6,000,000) -
18,000,000 (18,000,000) -
Employees 17 July 2008 17/7/2008 - 16/9/2014 16,000,000 (16,000,000) -
E& “TTN\FLATER 17/7/2009 - 16/9/2014 16,000,000 (16,000,000) -
171712010 - 16/9/2014 16,000,000 (16,000,000) -
48,000,000 (48,000,000) -
Exercisable at the end of
the year 66,000,000 (66,000,000) -
RERATE

During the year ended 31 March 2015 and 2014, no
share-based compensation expense was recognised
in relation to share options granted by the Company.
The exercise period of all share options expired on 16
September 2014, and all the share options were lapsed
during year ended 31 March 2015.

32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the scheme are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under control of a trustee. The Group contributes
lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,250 (before
1 June 2014) and HK$1500 (effective on 1 June 2014) per
month per person to the Scheme, which is matched by
employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC Government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B ZE—E—RAF=H=+—HIEFE

33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. BEATHEE
(@) Name and relationship of related parties (a) BEEATZEZBRBRE
Name Relationship with the Company £ BEAQT ZB@ER
Long Grand Limited  Ultimate holding company Long Grand Limited #&#X4ZERA A
Liuzhou Huagui Non-controlling owner of the M EEAE RARZIEERER A
Liuzhou Zhenghe
(b)  Amount due from ultimate holding company (b) EWERKRIERATZHE
2015 2014
—Z2-RF —T—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Non-trade related EE S
Long Grand Limited Long Grand Limited 39 -
Balance represents the amount due to Long Grand Limited 8 B Long Grand Limited%%&lg' RIEE
which was non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and 2 - WA 2B RIREEERS -

non-fixed term of repayment.

(c0  Amount due to non-controlling interests () ENFERERZRE
2015 2014
—F-8¥F —TEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Non-trade related EE S
Liuzhou Huagui W ZERE 73,526 -
Balance represents the amount due to Liuzhou Huagui ERAENUIMNEREZRIE - 5IEZE S5 HEE -
which was non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and I B RBEREREER -

repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BEZE —E—RF=-A=+—HBILFE

33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. BAEALTHE &)
(Continued)
(d) Related parties transactions (d) BEEALXRS
The Group has the following transactions with related REBEFNEBEATIIINATRS
parties during the year:
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEASZHMH
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FTEEBABZEMKEFAZEMMOT ¢

management during the year were as follows:

2015 2014

—ZE-RF —T—MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T THTT

Short-term benefits 5 HAfE 7 4,718 4,532
Retirement benefit scheme contribution RIREFE BRI 54 45
4,772 4,577

The remuneration of key management is determined FEBBABZEFMOI2Z/AA LT ZESR

having regard to the performance of individuals and MISBEERE -
market trends.

Chaoyue Group Limited B EB AR /A7 Annual Report 2015 3
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z—F— A& =A=+—HLFE

34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Subsidiaries of the Company

Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

34. MIBARFE
() ARFZHEBAH

ARFZHBARGFEAT

Proportion of

Issued and nominal value
Place of fully paid up of issued
incorporation/  share capital/  capital/registered
establishment/ registered capital held
Name of subsidiary operation capital by the Company Principal activities Legal from
BRITRE/
EMAL/ RERRE,/ ARAAREEET
WRARAR Ry SEHE afER  HEMEAEEZNE  TEXRE EERR
2015 2014
T-HF —T-QNF
% %
Directly held
BERE
Surplus Rich Investments Limited The BVI/ US$1 100 100 Management service to  Private limited
Hong Kong group companies liability company
Surplus Rich Investments Limited HBEUES/ %7 100 100 MEERAREERRE HBABRAF
&g
Chaoyue Investment Holdings Hong Kong/ HK$1 100 100 Investment holding Private limited
Limited Hong Kong liability company
B ERRERAR B/ BH 18T 100 100 RERRK MABRAE
Successtime Limited The BVI/ US$1 100 100  Investment holding Private limited
Hong Kong liability company
REBRAT] ERRLEE/ (Ep 100 100 REZER BABRAF
Longday International Limited The BVI/ US$1 100 100 Investment holding Private limited
Hong Kong liability company
BRERARAH ERRLES/ (E 100 100 ®EER MABBRAF
&g
Rising Vast Limited The BVI/ US$1 100 100 Inactive Private limited
Hong Kong liability company
EHARAT EBREAES/ (E 100 100 EEEHK MABRAT
A
Summation Group Limited Hong Kong/ HK$100 100 N/A Investment holding Private limited
Hong Kong liability company
Summation Group Limited BB/ B 100787 100 TEA  REEKR MABRAT
DENHREREARAR] The PRC/ RMB620,000,000 100 N/A  Inactive Domestic company
Shanghai Jiajing Financing Lease The PRC with limited liability
Co., Ltd*
LEMEREEERRAA e/ AR% 00 TER EEER BERERART
620,000,0007C

Chaoyue Group Limited BB HR AT
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BEZE —E—RF=-A=+—HBILFE

34. MEBRAFHE (@)

(a) ARARAZMERT (&)

Proportion of

Issued and nominal value
Place of fully paid up of issued
incorporation/  share capital/ capital/registered
establishment/ registered capital held
Name of subsidiary operation capital by the Company Principal activities Legal from
BRIREK/
BMAY/  RMERE/ ALTRECES
HWEAR LR AI/SEn%  aMRS  EMEAEEZNE  IEER EERA
2015 2014
“E-nFE _T-mF
% %
Indirectly held
fiERE
Pride Delight Limited The BVI/ US$1 100 100  Investment holding Private limited
Hong Kong liability company
HRERAR RERAEE/ 1% 100 100 REER RABRAF
A
Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited The BVI/ Us$100 90 90  Investment holding Private limited
Hong Kong liability company
EEERERAR RBRAES/ 100% 7 90 90 RERR RABRAR)
Kwok Tin Enterprises Limited Hong Kong/ HK$1 100 100 Inactive Private limited
Hong Kong liability company
BREERRAT B/ BE BT 100 100 EEEH BABRAF
Jiahe Investment Management Hong Kong/ HK$100 100 N/A~ Inactive Private limited
Co Limited Hong Kong liability company
Jiahe Investment Management B/ BA 100%7C 100 TER EEEE RABRAR
Co Limited
BANER) CEEBRERLA The PRC/ RMB12,500,000 60 60  Consultancy service and ~ Domestic company
United (Fujian) Corporate The PRC trading of goods with limited liability
Management Limited*
B (BR2) CXERERAR E AR 60 60 EBRRBELEARES BERERAT
12,500,0007T
BNBEREXERERAR The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100 N/A  Inactive Domestic company
Fuzhou Guotian Corporate The PRC with limited liability
Management Limited*
BMNEREEERARRA] E /P AR% 100 TER  EEEK BRERAT
1,000,0007T

Chaoyue Group Limited 5 E B AT Annual Report 2015 3k
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z—F— A& =A=+—HLFE

34.
(Continued)

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

34. MBRAFHE (@)

(a)

Proportion of

ERATRZHBLR (&)

Issued and nominal value
Place of fully paid up of issued
incorporation/  share capital/ capital/registered
establishment/ registered capital held
Name of subsidiary operation capital by the Company Principal activities Legal from
BRTRE/
EMRL/ RERRA/ ADIREERT
WEAR AR RY /S dfEx  EMEAEECHE  FEEH EERR
2015 2014
“E-RE ZE-QF
% %

BNE—EEERARAT] The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100 NA  Inactive Domestic company
Fuzhou Guoyi Corporate The PRC with limited liability
Management Limited*

BNE—CEXERARAA e/ AR% 100 TR LERK BERERART

1,000,0007T

N EREEEREEERAA The PRC/ RMB200,000,000 70 N/A  Property development  Domestic company
Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Zhiye The PRC with limited liability
Group Company Limited*

WM EMEEEXEBBR AT e/ E ARE 70 TER  DEER BRBRAT

200,000,0007T

EREEESERAR The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 70 N/A  Property development ~ Domestic company
Guangxi Zhenghuan Trading The PRC with limited liability
Co., Ltd.*

ERFEEHERAR hE /e AR 70 TER MEER BENBRAT

10,000,0007T

EREEREFRAF The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 70 N/A  Property development ~ Domestic company
Guangxi Changhua Investment The PRC with limited liability
Co., Ltd.*

BESEREARAA e/ ARE 70 TER  DEER BRARLTF

10,000,0007T

ERREESERATF The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 70 N/A  Property development  Domestic company
Guangxi Yizheng Trading Co., Ltd.*  The PRC with limited liability

ERAEE5ERAR E/ HE AR% 70 TER YEER BRERAH

10,000,0007T

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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(a) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company with
limited liability, except for otherwise denoted, which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
of the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014
that have material non-controlling interests.

Place of incorporation

Name and principal place

of subsidiary of business
A R

MEARER TEEXWE

Liuzhou Zhenghe The PRC
BN IEA I
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests
ﬂ%%?ékﬁ%ﬁ#?k$§
(Rf=YN

Total
fmEt

(a) ARRZMERT (&)

EHIE A RN FRERITEMNERZES

BRBHMA - ERINBRNRRZERE(EN B
RAREFEARIBFEATERFERER
HAEEEEFERELEZLA - %$w
R IHEMHBAR HBEETRIER

£

(b) HEEAFEREZHZEANEAT
B

TRWFIME-T-AFR-F-MF=H=
sl
BRI

Ownership interests
and rights held by
non-controlling interests

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

FERBERHEZ Rt
BARELRRRELA FIZR
2014 2014
—me —T-mF
HK$'000
TAT
N/A N/A
Sl TER
6,647
6,647
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 %

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect
of Liuzhou Zhenghe and its wholly owned subsidiary, that
has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised consolidated financial information below
represented amounts before intragroup eliminations.

E—E—RAF=A=1+—HLFE

34. MIBARFE #)

(b) BEREARFERBZZHFZTEMNEAQF
e (&)

TJIUIIIEW&E BN B AR YA EAIFERE
R AW B ERMIT o ATHBER
TE)EK?E;‘%@W EIREEEIE ok

Liuzhou Zhenghe and its wholly owned subsidiary WMIEFRIREZEHE 2 &
2015
—E-HF
HK$'000
FHxT
Current assets MENEE 2,771,767
Non-current assets EMBEE 358,151
Current liabilities nBBaE 2,787,775
Non-current liabilities EREAEE 81,125
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RATHAE AR 182,713
Non-controlling interests SEE R = 78,305

The completion of acquisition of Liuzhou Zhenghe was
on 31 March 2015, no profit allocation information is
presented as its inclusion, for the purpose of this report, is
not considered meaningful.

35. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY

—E-RAFE=ZA=1t—B=RWEINMER
BMEZ)EFMOEER  RERARHIAGTBEER
MAREMETNETMER -

35. AR B HKEEFR

Information about the statement of financial position and NE{REEAKR » NA A 2SR Rz L EEEE S
movement of reserves of the Company at the end of the Zéﬂ@%
reporting period includes:
2015 2014
—E-HF —T—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
TOTAL ASSETS EEAR
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZIRE 1 1
Property, plant and equipment ME - Iﬁ&}%&‘ & 1,744 -
Amount due from subsidiaries i N NG R 671 109,663
Other receivables ET@%H&EEIE 1,850 984
Banks balances and cash RITHEFRIAS 166,519 97,241
170,785 207,889
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BE—ZE—AF=A=+—HIFE

35. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 35. AR TMBER (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

2015 2014
—ZE-hF —E—JUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT THETT
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEAE
Other payables HibETERTE 2,662 1,052
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTFTE A RIFRIA 14,237 -
16,899 1,052
153,886 206,837
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BER#E
Share capital (see note 25) A&7 (RMIEE25) 19,039 19,039
Reserves HE 134,847 187,798
153,886 206,837
Non-voting
convertible Capital Share
Share preference Share redemption option  Accumulated
capital share  premium reserve reserve losses Total
BREEY g BRE

Bx ReEER  RHEE A e ZitER st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

TEL TAL TAL TEL TEL TAL TEL

At 1 April 2013 WZE—=4MA—H 18,876 31,289 7,392,753 3,781 16,157 (7,243,633) 219,223
Loss and total comprehensive ~ EREER2ANAEE
income for the year - - - - - (12,386) (12,386)
Conversion of non-voting ERZETHRELR
convertible preference shares 38 AERER (HizF24)
into ordinary shares (note 24) 163 (31,289 31,126 - - - -
At 31 March 2014 RZE-ME=A=1+—H 19,039 - 74238719 3,781 16,157 (7,256,019) 206,837
Loss and total comprehensive  FREER 2 EF X EE
expense for the year - - - - - (52,951) (52,951)
Reversal of share option BREREZ
reserve (note) e (W) - - - - (16,157) 16,157 -
At 31 March 2015 RZE-RF=A=1-H 19,039 - 7423879 3,781 - (7,292,813) 153,886
Note: The share option reserve represents the special reserve BisE - BREREBEN_ZZ)/\FLAT+LtHEREER
recognised from share option granted on 17 July 2008. Since MR BIEGE - BRZSEREDIHNE
all of these options were lapsed during the year ended 31 E-T-AF =A==+ AIEFERM - BB
March 2015, the corresponding amount recorded in the R FEE P SS 2 B FIB B EE R Rt e
share option reserve was transferred to accumulated losses BA -
accordingly.
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Five Years Financial Summary
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RESULTS ES
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHT FHET FET FHET
(Restated)  (Restated)
(&%) (E%))
Turnover ]
from continuing operations RERFERGEER 2,424 3,007 13,827 - 24,498
from discontinued operations KED R FEEETR = - 11,873 23,101 -
Total turnover k] 2,424 3,007 25,700 23,101 24,498
(Loss) profit for the year REFBCEER L
from continuing operations AEE (F18) & (228,441) (48,501) (20,141) (12,647)  (220,595)
(Loss) profit for the year REDRIEEEEB
from discontinued operations REE (B18) w5 - - 253,611 (31,282) (24,142)
(Loss) profit for the year AEE (BE) 55 (228,441)  (48,501) 233,470 (43,929)  (244,737)
Attributable to AT (G
Owners of the Company ADREEA (223,798)  (43,927) 217,654  (42,599)  (243,150)
Non-controlling interests eI REES (4,647) (4,574) 15,816 (1,330) (1,587)
(228,441) (48,501) 233,470 (43,929) (244,737)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FETT FHET FET FHET
Total assets BERT 3,317,253 236,204 285,669 181,688 242,553
Total liabilities BERE (3,233,717) (3,347) (4,254)  (127,791)  (138,717)
83,536 232,857 281,415 53,897 103,836
Equity attributable to
owners of the Company RNOFHEB AELER 3,137 226,210 270,258 50,839 99,453
Non-controlling interests RS 80,399 6,647 11,157 3,058 4,383
83,536 232,857 281,415 53,897 103,836
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